INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UMI®

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

.

University of Alberta

Analysis and Design of Nonuniform Multirate Systems

by

Aryan Saadat Mehr



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

Edmonton, Alberta Fall, 2001

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our lie Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-68991-3



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

University of Alberta

Library Release Form

Name of Author: Aryan Saadat Mehr

Title of Thesis: Analysis and Design of Nonuniform Multirate Systems

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Year this Degree Granted: 2001

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserve all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

Apt. 3A, 9006

Apt. 3A, 9006 112 St., Edmonton Alberta, T6G 2C5

Date: June 6, 2001

University of Alberta

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled Analysis and Design of Nonuniform Multirate Systems submitted by Aryan Saadat Mehr in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Dr. S. Shah

Dr. M. Mandal

Ør/H. Marquez

Dr. B. Nowrouzian

TEV. Dr. G. Gu

Date: Mary 291, Zoul

To my parents

Abstract

In this thesis, we study periodic and multirate systems. In particular we are interested in rate changers, nonuniform filter banks, and nonuniform transmultiplexers.

We consider the general characteristics of multirate building blocks and the approximation of these systems by systems that have a different but compatible period. In the \mathcal{H}_2 model-matching case, we show how to obtain the optimal approximant. Then, we use these multirate building blocks in the design of nonuniform filter banks and transmultiplexers.

Contrary to uniform filter banks, for nonuniform filter banks, if we use LTI filters in the analysis and synthesis filter banks, it may not be possible to achieve perfect-reconstruction. But, by using general multirate building blocks, we can eliminate some of the design constraints.

We assume that the analysis filter bank consists of finite impulse response (FIR) filters. The initial FIR analysis filters are designed according to the characteristics of the input. By the design procedure, the FIR synthesis filters are found so that the norm of the error system is minimized over all synthesis filters that have a prespecified order. Then, the synthesis filters obtained in the previous step are fixed and the analysis filters are found similarly. By iteration, the norm of the error system decreases until it converges to its final value.

In the \mathcal{H}_2 design of nonuniform filter banks, the problem is formulated in the frequency domain. In this approach, the frequency selectivity of filters can also be considered by

adding penalty terms. At each iteration, the least squares solution of a system of linear equations yields the local optimal filters.

In the \mathcal{H}_{∞} design of nonuniform filter banks, the problem is formulated in the statespace framework. The problem is then posed as an optimization problem based on linear matrix inequalities, which can be solved effectively by interior point methods.

Nonuniform transmultiplexers can be used for the conversion of signals that have different sampling rates, between the time-division multiplexing (TDM) format and the frequencydivision multiplexing (FDM) format. Here, we have posed the design of nonuniform transmultiplexers as an iterated semidefinite programming problem.

Acknowledements

I am deeply grateful to Professor Tongwen Chen for his support and guidance, and for reading various manuscripts related to this work. I would also like to express my appreciation for financial support from Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada which was made available by Professor Tongwen Chen in the form of Research Assistantships. Financial assistance from the University of Alberta (FSChia Ph.D. Scholarship, and Dissertation Fellowship) is also gratefully acknowledged.

Contents

1	Intr	ntroduction		
	1.1	Rate Changers	2	
	1.2	Filter Banks	3	
	1.3	Transmultiplexers	6	
	1.4	Scope of the Thesis	9	
2	Rep	presentation of Linear Periodically Time-Varying Systems	11	
	2.1	Fourier Analysis of LPTV Systems	13	
		2.1.1 Response to Periodic Inputs	14	
		2.1.2 Alias-Component Matrices	16	
	2.2	LSTV Systems	19	
	2.3	Optimal Approximation	25	
	2.4	Summary	28	
3	Rat	e changers	30	
	3.1	Fundamentals	30	
	3.2	Transfer Matrices of the Blocked Systems	34	
	3.3	Optimal Approximation of General Multirate Systems	36	

	3.4 Summary	39
4	\mathcal{H}_2 Optimal Design of Nonuniform Filter Banks	40
	4.1 Introduction	40
	4.2 Transfer Matrices of Blocked Multirate Filter Banks	45
	4.3 \mathcal{H}_2 Optimization	47
	4.4 Examples	54
	4.5 Summary	58
5	\mathcal{H}_∞ Design of Nonuniform Filter Banks	61
	5.1 Introduction	61
	5.2 Formulation	63
	5.3 Conversion to LMI	67
	5.4 Example	68
	5.5 Concluding Remarks	70
6	Nonuniform Transmultiplexers: Analysis and Design	72
	6.1 Introduction	72
	6.2 Transfer Matrices of Nonuniform Transmultiplexers	76
	6.3 Alias-Component Matrices	83
	6.4 Model-Matching Formulation	88
	6.5 Design Example	89
	6.6 Concluding Remarks	91
7	Conclusion and Future Extensions	94

7.1	Summary	94
7.2	Future Extensions	95

List of Tables

4.1	Coefficients of (a)	Initial ana	alysis filters,	(b) final	analysis filters	• • • • • • •	59

List of Figures

1.1	A sample-rate changer	4
1.2	QMF filter bank	4
1.3	A 2-channel transmultiplexer	7
2.1	The steady-state (dashed) and actual (solid) outputs of the periodic system	
	in the example, to the periodic input.	16
2.2	The structure of an LSTV system with a switch at the output. \ldots .	19
2.3	The structure of an LSTV system with a switch in the input. \ldots .	19
2.4	The approximation scheme	25
3.1	A sample-rate changer	31
3.2	a) Input signal, b) upsampled signal by 3 $(p = 3)$, c) downsampled signal by	
	3 ($q=3$), amplitude versus normalized frequency	32
3.3	The structure of a (p, q) -periodic system	37
4.1	A general nonuniform filter bank	41
4.2	A 3-channel nonuniform filter bank	42
4.3	The equivalent uniform filter bank	43

4.4	An equivalent representation of a downsampler followed by an upsampler by	
	a factor of 3	43
4.5	The equivalent representation of a 2-periodic system	44
4.6	A sample-rate changer	45
4.7	The \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system versus the number of iterations for a 3-	
	channel filter bank with LTI blocks	55
4.8	Analysis filters H_0 (dash), H_1 (dot), and H_2 (solid): amplitude versus nor-	
	malized frequency	56
4.9	Synthesis filters F_0 (dash), F_1 (dot), F_2 (solid): amplitude versus normalized	
	frequency.	56
4.10	The error signal (versus time) of the filter bank with LTI blocks for a random	
	input with a uniform distribution in $[-1, 1]$	57
4.11	Analysis filters, for the filter bank with general synthesis blocks H_0 (dash),	
	H_1 (dot), and H_2 (solid): amplitude versus normalized frequency	58
4.12	Synthesis filters for the filter bank with the general blocks, ϕ_{00} (solid), ϕ_{01}	
	(dash), F_1 (''): amplitude versus normalized frequency	58
4.13	Synthesis filters for the filter bank with the general blocks, ϕ_{20} (solid), ϕ_{21}	
	(dash), ϕ_{22} (''): amplitude versus normalized frequency	60
4.14	The error signal (versus time) of the filter bank with general blocks for a	
	random input with a uniform distribution in $[-1, 1]$	60
5.1	A general nonuniform filter bank	63

5.2	Analysis filters H_0 (dash), H_1 (dot), and H_2 (solid): amplitude versus nor-	
	malized frequency.	69
5.3	Synthesis filters for the filter bank with the general blocks, ϕ_{00} (solid). ϕ_{01}	
	(dash), F_1 (''): amplitude versus normalized frequency.	69
5.4	Synthesis filters for the filter bank with the general blocks, ϕ_{20} (solid), ϕ_{21}	
	(dash), ϕ_{22} (''): amplitude versus normalized frequency.	70
5.5	The error signal of the filter bank for a random input with a uniform distri-	
	bution in $[-1, 1]$	70
6.1	A general nonuniform transmultiplexer	73
6.2	An n_i -channel maximally decimated perfect-reconstruction filter bank	77
6.3	The equivalent representation of the general nonuniform transmultiplexer.	
	The representation of the i -th channel is shown. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	79
6.4	The representation of F_i	80
6.5	The representation of H_i	80
6.6	A three-channel nonuniform transmultiplexer	89
6.7	Synthesis filters F_0 (dash) , F_1 (dot), F_2 (solid): amplitude versus normalized	
	frequency	91
6.8	Analysis filters $ ilde{H}_{0,0}$ (solid), $ ilde{H}_{0,1}$ (dash): amplitude versus normalized fre-	
	quency	91
6.9	Analysis filters $ ilde{H}_{1,0}$: amplitude versus normalized frequency \ldots \ldots	92
6.10	Analysis filters $ ilde{H}_{2,0}$ (solid), $ ilde{H}_{2,1}$ (dash), $ ilde{H}_{2,2}$ (dot): amplitude versus nor-	
	malized frequency	92

6.11 Error in the response of the first channel of the transmultiplexer 93

Symbols

R	set of real numbers
\mathcal{H}_2	Hardy space on the open unit disc in the complex plane
\mathcal{H}_∞	ditto
F	Fourier transform operator
z^{-1}	unit-delay (operator)
δ	Dirac-delta function
<u>H</u>	lifted transfer matrix of H
Ĥ	alias-component matrix of H
A^T	transpose of A
A•	conjugate transpose of A
I _r	$r \times r$ identity matrix

Abbreviations

- FDM frequency-division multiplexing
- FIR finite impulse response
- IIR infinite impulse response

lcm least common multiple

- LTI linear time-invariant
- LPTV linear periodically time-varying
- LSTV linear switching time-varying
- QMF quadrature mirror filter bank
- TDM time-division multiplexing

Chapter 1 Introduction

Multirate systems are systems that handle data at several sampling rates. Multirate systems typically consist of downsamplers that decrease the sampling rate, upsamplers which increase the sampling rate, and linear systems for filtering of signals.

One of the applications of multirate signal processing is in changing the sampling rates of signals. In digital audio industry different devices are operating at different sampling rates, i.e., the broadcast rate is 32 kHz, the sampling rate for CDs is 44.1 kHz and for studio work is 48 kHz. Therefore it is necessary to convert the signals from one sampling rate to another, so that the spectrums of the signals are similar in the frequency bands of interest [11, 24, 32, 31].

Another application of multirate signal processing is in the design and implementation of filters. In particular, in the design of finite impulse response (FIR) filters with sharp transition bands, instead of direct implementation, it is possible to use multirate structures, and perform some of the computations at lower sampling rates [34].

The other important issue in multirate signal processing is the design of multirate filter banks [34, 18, 25, 6, 17]. Multirate filter banks are mainly used for subband coding of signals. Statistically, although audio and visual signals have most of their energy concentrated in a particular frequency band, the suppression of other bands may result in a degradation of the quality. In subband coding, by using a multirate filter bank, the input signal is split into different subbands. In critically sampled case, the number of input samples per unit time is equal to the sum of the number of samples per unit time of the subbands. Subband signals are encoded according to the statistical or perceptual properties, and transmitted or stored according to the application. It is usually possible to represent the subband signals with fewer number of bits than the input signal. After transmission/retrieval, subband signals are processed, and the input signal is reconstructed. Therefore by using filter banks it is possible to represent signals more efficiently, and without any perceivable loss in quality.

A related topic is the design of transmultiplexers [33, 35, 19, 26, 1]. Transmultiplexers are used for the conversion of signals between the time-division multiplexing (TDM) format and the frequency-division multiplexing (FDM) format. Here, we are interested in the design of nonuniform transmultiplexers. These systems can be used in cases where the sampling rates of the input signals are not necessarily the same. As we will see most of the methods developed here for the filter banks can be modified for use in nonuniform transmultiplexers.

In the rest of this section, we will discuss rate changers, filter banks, and transmultiplexers in more detail, and will give an outline of the thesis.

1.1 Rate Changers

In digital signal processing, different devices might be operating at different sampling rates. It is often necessary to convert a signal with a given sampling rate to another signal that has a different sampling rate so that the frequency characteristics of the signal remains similar [11]. One way to do that is to convert the digital signal back to a continuous signal and resample the signal at the sampling rate of interest. This process is expensive, inherently introduces noise, and is usually not adopted.

A better approach is to convert the discrete time signal directly from one sampling rate to the other. This can be done by the system shown in Figure 1.1. This system consists of an upsampler by $p, \uparrow p$, a linear system G, and a downsampler by $q, \downarrow q$. The upsampler by p inserts p-1 zeros between each two consecutive samples, and the downsampler by q deletes q-1 samples between each consecutive q samples at kq and (k+1)q, for any integer k. For such a system, if we delay the input sequence by q samples, the output will be delayed by p samples. We call a system with this property a (p,q)-periodic system. In a real-time implementation, the time corresponding to q samples in the input sequence of the system is equal to the time corresponding to p samples of the output of the system. In other words the system is a sample rate changer, and the sampling rate of the output of the system ω is related to the sampling rate of the input ω_i , by

$$\omega_i = \frac{q}{p}\omega.$$

As we argue later, by choosing the linear time-invariant (LTI) system G to be a lowpass filter with the cutoff frequency $\omega_c = \min(\pi/p, \pi/q)$, it is possible to expand (if p < q) or contract (if p > q) the spectrum of the input over the frequency range of interest. Therefore the system retains the shape of the spectrum in the given frequency range, while it changes the sampling rate.

1.2 Filter Banks

By proper connection of rate changers that were described above, a multirate filter bank can be formed. A simple nontrivial case is the 2-channel quadrature mirror filter bank (QMF)



Figure 1.1: A sample-rate changer.



Figure 1.2: QMF filter bank.

shown in Figure 1.2. The filters H_0 and H_1 are typically lowpass and highpass respectively. Thus x_0 and x_1 are the low-frequency and high-frequency components of x. Since x_0 and x_1 are band-limited, if they are downsampled aliasing will be negligible.

Assume that the input to the filter bank x(n), has most of its energy in the lower half of the spectrum, but the energy of the higher half of the spectrum is not negligible. Denote the subband signals that are obtained by filtering and downsampling, v_0 and v_1 , respectively. As most of the energy of the signal is in v_0 , we may allocate fewer bits to v_1 than to v_0 . Thus the number of bits per second needed to transmit v_0 and v_1 collectively, is less than that needed for the transmission of x(k), and it is usually more efficient to transmit or store the subband signals v_0 and v_1 instead of x. After transmitting/retrieving, the subband signals are upsampled by a factor of 2. Then the output of the upsamplers are processed by filters F_0 and F_1 , and added together so that a replica of the original signal is reconstructed with a prespecified delay. Since the lower half of the spectrum is transmitted on the first channel and the higher half on the second channel, the filters F_0 and F_1 should be lowpass and high pass filters respectively.

If we delay the input to the filter bank by 2 samples, its output will be delayed by 2 samples. Thus the QMF is a periodically time-varying system with period 2. By blocking the inputs and outputs of this periodic system a 2 by 2 LTI system results [34]. As we will show later, the blocked transfer matrix of a filter bank can be obtained by the multiplication of the transfer matrix of the analysis filter bank and that of the synthesis filter bank. Because it is desirable to reconstruct the input of the multirate filter bank, the transfer matrix of the filter bank should be as close as possible to a blocking of a pure delay transfer function.

The delay depends on the order of the filters. The order of the filters in turn depends on the stop-band ripples and the transition bands of filters.

Assume that all analysis and synthesis filters are finite impulse response filters. The simultaneous design of analysis and synthesis filters in a multirate filter bank is a nonlinear optimization problem, but if either analysis or synthesis filters are known and the other set is to be designed, the problem can be solved efficiently: The initial FIR analysis filters may be designed according to the characteristics of the input. By the model-matching theory, the FIR synthesis filters are found so that the norm of the error system is minimized over all synthesis filters that have a prespecified order [7, 6, 27]. Then, the synthesis filters obtained in the previous step are fixed, and the analysis filters are found similarly. By iteration, the norm of the error system decreases until it converges to its final value.

Nonuniform filter banks are obtained by using fractional rate changers instead of integer rate changers as their building blocks. In a nonuniform filter bank, the sampling rates are not the same in all channels, and thus filters in different channels may have different bandwidths, which in turn may result in a higher efficiency in coding. The objective is to recover the input signal at the output of the filter bank, while the efficiency of the transmission is improved.

The design of nonuniform filter banks is the main focus of this thesis. It can be shown that the design of a nonuniform filter bank can be converted to the design of a uniform filter bank, subject to some structural constraints. The structural constraints cause some of the coefficients of the analysis and synthesis filters to appear in more than one entry of the transfer matrices of the analysis and synthesis filter banks, respectively. In other words, the design of nonuniform filter banks can be posed as a model-matching problem with a constraint on the elements of the transfer matrices. Most of the methods that were previously proposed for the design of nonuniform filter banks were applicable only when there were no constraints on the elements of the equivalent uniform filter bank. Here we pose the design of a nonuniform filter bank as a model-matching problem, and find the optimal FIR filter bank iteratively. Our approach is general and handles structural constraints. A related multirate system is a transmultiplexer, which we shall introduce next.

1.3 Transmultiplexers

Assume that we intend to transmit signals $x_0(n)$ and $x_1(n)$ through a channel. Take the transmultiplexer shown in Figure 1.3. Let $F_0 = H_1 = 1$, and $F_1 = H_0 = z^{-1}$. By this choice, we have $v(2n) = x_0(n)$, $v(2n+1) = x_1(n)$, $y_0(n) = x_0(n-1)$, and $y_1(n) = x_1(n-1)$. In other words, the transmultiplexer transmits the signal v in the TDM format, and the



Figure 1.3: A 2-channel transmultiplexer.

outputs of the transmultiplexer are the delayed versions of the inputs. Note that here, the transmultiplexer is not doing any processing, and merely serves as a symbolic representation of the inputs in the TDM format.

Alteratively, we may transmit the signals in the FDM format, and recover the original signals at the outputs: The upsamplers by 2 compress the spectrum of the signals by a factor 2. For example, the spectrum of the x_0 in $[-\pi, \pi]$ is compressed on $[-\pi/2, \pi/2]$ and repeated outside this interval. Let F_0 and F_1 be ideal lowpass and highpass filters respectively. Then, the spectrum of the transmission signal v is the compressed version of the spectrum of x_0 on $[-\pi/2, \pi/2]$, and that of x_1 on $[\pi/2, \pi]$. Therefore in this case, v is the FDM format representation of the inputs of the transmultiplexer. If H_0 and H_1 are ideal lowpass and highpass filters, the upper channel and lower channel give the compressed version of the spectrum of the input signals x_0 and x_1 , respectively. As these are now band-limited, downsamplers by 2 expand the spectrums by 2, and yield the spectrum of original signals. Hence this transmultiplexer can be used for the conversion of the input signals between the TDM and the FDM formats.

By comparing transmultiplexers and filter banks, we see that they are the dual of each other, and that a transmultiplexer can be obtained by interchanging the analysis and synthesis parts of a filter bank. Note that the above mentioned transmultiplexer is an LTI system, because a unit shift in the input sequences results in a unit shift in the output sequences. Thus, we can define a transfer matrix for the transmultiplexer. The transfer matrix of a transmultiplexer can be obtained by post-multiplying the transfer matrix of the synthesis part by the transfer matrix of the analysis part. Therefore, the model-matching design of filter banks can be extended to transmultiplexers.

Nonuniform transmultiplexer were proposed recently [10, 20], and are obtained by interchanging the positions of the analysis and the synthesis parts of nonuniform filter banks. Contrary to a uniform transmultiplexer, a nonuniform transmultiplexer is not an LTI system, because the input of the different channels may have different sampling rates. A nonuniform transmultiplexer may be used for the conversion of input signals that have different sampling rates between the TDM and the FDM formats.

There are similarities between the design of nonuniform filter banks and the design of transmultiplexers. In the last part of the thesis, we obtain the alias-component (AC) matrix of nonuniform transmultiplexers. Using the AC matrix, we show that by minimizing the \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of the error system, various distortion measures of a nonuniform transmultiplexer are minimized. Then, we pose the \mathcal{H}_{∞} design of a nonuniform transmultiplexer as an iterated semidefinite programming problem.

1.4 Scope of the Thesis

In Chapter 2, we discuss some issues related to the representation of linear periodically time-varying (LPTV) systems. These systems which we also refer to as periodic systems are relevant to our study because multirate filter banks are LPTV systems, furthermore it is sometimes straightforward to generalize the concepts from LPTV systems to multirate systems. We study two different representations of LPTV systems, namely, representations based on the alias-component matrices [30] and linear switching time-varying (LSTV) systems [28]. We show how to obtain these representations, and then we use the LSTV representation to address the issue of optimal approximation of an LPTV system by an LTI system or by an LPTV system with a period that is arbitrary but different from the original system. This is a generalization of the problem of approximating an LPTV system by an LTI system which was solved using the AC matrices in [8].

In Chapter 3. we study multirate building blocks such as upsamplers, downsamplers, and rate changers in general. We discuss the blocking of rate changers, which is used in the study of nonuniform filter banks and transmultiplexers in the following chapters. We also use the LSTV representation of rate changers to generalize the optimal approximation problem studied in Chapter 2 to cover rate changers. In other words, we study the optimal approximation of a multirate system by another multirate system that has a given but compatible period, i.e., has the same input and output sampling rates.

Chapters 4 and 5 are about the optimal design of nonuniform filter banks. In these chapters, we use the more general blocks in the synthesis filter bank and usual filters in the analysis filter bank. The general blocks eliminate some of the design constraints, and result

in lower reconstruction errors.

In Chapter 5, we formulate the \mathcal{H}_2 model-matching problem in the frequency domain [27]. In this approach, the frequency selectivity of filters can also be considered by adding a penalty term. We follow an iterative solution, and at each iteration the results are obtained by finding the least squares solution of a system of linear equations.

In Chapter 6, we formulate the \mathcal{H}_{∞} model-matching problem in the state-space framework [29]. We propose an iterative solution similar to the one proposed in the \mathcal{H}_2 modelmatching method. At each iteration, the problem is posed as an optimization based on linear matrix inequalities, and is solved by MATLAB LMI toolbox.

In Chapter 7, we extend the concept of alias-component matrices to nonuniform transmultiplexers. Then we pose the model-matching design of nonuniform transmultiplexers in the state-space domain. Based on the AC matrices, we show that the model-matching design yields transmultiplexers with low distortions. The problem is then solved by semidefinite programming.

The last chapter summerizes the work in the thesis, and outlines some possible future research directions.

Chapter 2

Representation of Linear Periodically Time-Varying Systems

A linear periodically time-varying discrete-time system with period p is a system for which a shift in the input sequence by p samples results in a shift of p samples in the output sequence. We shall also refer to LPTV systems as periodic systems. Periodic systems are usually simpler to deal with than multirate systems, and some of the results for periodic systems can be directly generalized to general multirate systems.

LPTV systems appear frequently in control systems and signal processing: LPTV controllers are used to improve certain performance specifications of control systems [16]; and multirate filter banks, which are inherently LPTV, find application in digital communications [31, 34]. There are many ways to represent LPTV systems; common ones include statespace models with periodically time-varying coefficients, equivalent linear time-invariant models obtained by the blocking (lifting) technique [16], and alias-component matrices which are popular in signal processing [31, 34].

Here, we first study the alias-component matrices of LPTV systems and then examine two different structures for LPTV systems, each consisting of a switch, either at the input or the output, which periodically switches to several LTI blocks. These structures are called linear switching time-varying systems. Due to the simplicity of LSTV systems, they are very useful in studying a class of problems associated with LPTV systems, one of which is related to analyzing aliasing and interconnections of LPTV systems, namely, how to approximate a given LPTV system G with period p by an LPTV system \tilde{G} with period \tilde{p} ? The optimal choice, measured using the \mathcal{H}_2 norm of the error system $G - \tilde{G}$, turns out to be simple using the LSTV representations. We remark that the approximation problem we study in this chapter is quite general in that p and \tilde{p} are arbitrary integers; a special case when \tilde{G} is LTI ($\tilde{p} = 1$) was studied in [8] using alias-component matrices; see also the work in [4] for some approximation results.

The chapter is organized as follows. In Section 2.1, we will study the frequency response and the alias-component matrix of an LPTV system. First, we use the Fourier series to find the steady-state response of discrete-time linear periodically time-varying systems to periodic inputs. Then, in order to obtain the response of LPTV systems to general inputs, we use the Fourier transform and establish a direct link between alias-component matrices and LPTV systems modeled by periodically time-varying difference equations; this is given in terms of the Fourier series of the parameters in the model. As we argue, the steadystate response of periodic systems can be calculated directly based on the alias-component matrices.

In Section 2.2, we study some basic properties for the two LSTV structures, including their time-domain and frequency-domain relationships and questions such as how to calculate system norms (ℓ_1 and \mathcal{H}_2 norms), and how to characterize LSTV systems with period p_1 in the class of p_1p_2 periodic systems, where both p_1 and p_2 are positive integers. This will lead us to the solution of optimal approximation problem of an LPTV system with period p by another LPTV system that has a given period q.

In Section 2.3, we present the optimal approximation of an LPTV system G with period p by an LPTV system \tilde{G} with a pre-specified but arbitrary period \tilde{p} , so that the \mathcal{H}_2 norm of $G - \tilde{G}$ is minimized. Using the tools developed in Section 2.3, we show that when \tilde{p} is not a divisor of p, the optimal approximant turns out to be LPTV with period \bar{p} , the greatest common divisor of p and \tilde{p} . In other words, the class of LPTV systems with period \tilde{p} will not yield any advantage over the class of LPTV systems with period \bar{p} in achieving a lower approximation error.

Finally, in Section 2.4 we provide some concluding remarks.

2.1 Fourier Analysis of LPTV Systems

Complex exponential functions are the eigenfunctions of LTI systems. For an LPTV system with period p, the subspaces spanned by the functions $\{e^{j\omega n}, e^{j(\omega + \frac{1}{p})n}, \dots, e^{j(\omega + \frac{p-1}{p})n}\}$ are invariant subspaces. In other words, the response of an LPTV system to inputs in the subspace will remain in it. By defining the relationship of the inputs and the outputs, a representation which is called the alias-component representation of the LPTV system is obtained.

As reported in [22], we may use the blocked model of an LPTV system, and obtain the alias-component matrix of the system. Here, we obtain an alternative, yet more direct formulation that relates the alias-component matrix to the Fourier series of the time-varying coefficients of the system. Then, we show that by using the alias-component matrix, the steady-state response to periodic inputs can be found directly.

In the next part, we use the Fourier series to compute the response of an LPTV system

to periodic inputs. Then, by using the Fourier transforms, we find the response of an LPTV system to general inputs. This will lead to alias-component matrices of LPTV systems.

2.1.1 **Response to Periodic Inputs**

Assume that G is a periodic system with period p. As we discuss in the next section, if a periodic input with period p is applied, the output at the steady-state will be periodic with the same period p. If we represent the input in terms of its Fourier series, as the system is periodic, the parameters of the system will also be periodic in time with the same period. Therefore if we use the Fourier representation, we can obtain the coefficients of the Fourier series representation of the output of the system. Assume that G is described by the difference equation

$$a_0(n)y(n) + a_1(n)y(n-1) + \dots + a_k(n)y(n-k) = b_0(n)u(n) + \dots + b_l(n)u(n-l). \quad (2.1)$$

The condition that the system is periodic yields:

$$a_i(n) = a_i(n-p),$$
 for $i = 0, 1, \dots, k$
 $b_i(n) = b_i(n-p),$ for $i = 0, 1, \dots, l.$

Because a_i and b_i are periodic with period p, they can be expressed in terms of their Fourier series as

$$a_i(n) = \sum_{m=0}^{p-1} \bar{a}_{i,m} e^{2\pi j n m/p}, \quad \text{for } i = 0, 1, \cdots, k$$

and

$$b_i(n) = \sum_{m=0}^{p-1} \bar{b}_{i,m} e^{2\pi j n m/p}, \quad \text{for } i = 0, 1, \cdots, l.$$

Since the input and output are periodic with period p, we have:

$$u(n)=\sum_{m=0}^{p-1}\bar{u}_me^{2\pi jnm/p},$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

$$y(n)=\sum_{m=0}^{p-1}\bar{y}_me^{2\pi jnm/p}.$$

The terms in the difference equation are periodic with period p, and we have

$$b_i(n)u(n-i) = \sum_{r=0}^{p-1} \sum_{\alpha=0}^{p-1} \bar{b}_{i,r-\alpha} \bar{u}_{\alpha} e^{-ji2\pi\alpha/p} e^{jn2\pi r/p}.$$

Note that we have assumed that $\bar{b}_{i,m}$ have period p in their second indices. Therefore equation (2.1) can be replaced by its Fourier representation:

$$\sum_{r=0}^{p-1} \sum_{\alpha=0}^{p-1} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \bar{a}_{i,r-\alpha} \bar{y}_{\alpha} e^{-ji2\pi\alpha/p} - \sum_{\alpha=0}^{p-1} \sum_{i=0}^{l} \bar{b}_{i,r-\alpha} \bar{u}_{\alpha} e^{-ji2\pi\alpha/p}) e^{jn2\pi r/p} = 0.$$
(2.2)

By setting the coefficients of $e^{jn2\pi r/p}$ (for r = 0 to p - 1) to zero in (2.2), we obtain p equations. By solving these equations for \bar{y}_0 to \bar{y}_{p-1} , the output, y(n), can be found. It should be clear that this method is applicable only when the system is stable.

If the input has a period p_u that is different from the period of the system p_s , we can show that the output of the system will be periodic with a period \tilde{p} that is given by the least common multiple of p_u and p_s , i.e., $\tilde{p} = \text{lcm}(p_u, p_s)$: As a_i , b_i and u are all periodic with period \tilde{p} , we can find the coefficients of their Fourier series. Then by solving (2.2), we get the coefficients of the Fourier series of the output. The following example shows the results for a case where p_s and p_u are different.

Take the difference equations with period $p_s = 2$:

$$y(n) + 0.5y(n-1) - 0.4y(n-2) = 0.2u(n) + 0.3u(n-1)$$
 for even n,

$$y(n) + 0.6y(n-1) + 0.3y(n-2) = 0.1u(n) + 0.1u(n-1)$$
 for odd n,

and assume that the input is periodic with period $p_u = 9$:

$$u(n) = 0.37 - 0.1\sin(\frac{2\pi n}{9}) - 0.38\cos(\frac{8\pi n}{9}).$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

and

The output can be obtained by expressing the input and the parameters of the system in terms of their Fourier series with period $\tilde{p} = 18$ (least common multiple of 2 and 9). The output of the system as found directly from the difference equation with the initial conditions, y(0) = 0, and y(1) = 0, is shown by the solid line in Figure 2.1. The dashed line in the Figure shows the periodic part of the output as obtained by solving (2.2). As shown here, the transients die out in less than 20 samples. In the next section, we study the response of LPTV systems to aperiodic inputs.



Figure 2.1: The steady-state (dashed) and actual (solid) outputs of the periodic system in the example, to the periodic input.

2.1.2 Alias-Component Matrices

In order to obtain the output to a general input, we use the Fourier transform. As in the previous section, we treat the parameters of the system as a periodic modulating signal.
For $\omega \in [0 \ 2\pi]$, the Fourier transforms of a_i are given by

$$A_i(\omega) = \mathcal{F}\left\{a_i(n)\right\} = 2\pi \sum_{m=0}^{p-1} \bar{a}_{i,m} \delta(\omega - \frac{2\pi m}{p}),$$

where δ is the Dirac-delta function. Similarly, we can express the Fourier transforms of $b_i(n)$ by

$$B_i(\omega) = 2\pi \sum_{m=0}^{p-1} \bar{b}_{i,m} \delta(\omega - \frac{2\pi m}{p}).$$

Applying the Fourier transform to the terms of the difference equation, we have

$$\mathcal{F}\left\{a_i(n)y(n-i)\right\} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} A_i(\Theta)Y(\omega-\Theta)e^{-(\omega-\Theta)ji}d\Theta,$$

where Y is the Fourier transform of the output. Substituting A_i by their Fourier series, we get

$$\mathcal{F}\left\{a_{i}(n)y(n-i)\right\} = \sum_{m=0}^{p-1} \bar{a}_{i,m} e^{-(\omega - \frac{2\pi m}{p})ji} Y(\omega - \frac{2\pi m}{p}).$$
(2.3)

Therefore the Fourier transform of (2.1) is

$$\sum_{m=0}^{p-1} \sum_{i=0}^{k} e^{-(\omega - \frac{2\pi m}{p})ji} \bar{a}_{i,m} Y(\omega - \frac{2\pi m}{p}) = \sum_{m=0}^{p-1} \sum_{i=0}^{l} e^{-(\omega - \frac{2\pi m}{p})ji} \bar{b}_{i,m} U(\omega - \frac{2\pi m}{p}),$$

where U is the Fourier transform of the input of the system. Defining

$$\bar{U}(\omega) = \left[U(\omega) \ U(\omega - \frac{2\pi}{p}) \ \cdots \ U(\omega - \frac{2\pi(p-1)}{p}) \right]^T$$

and

$$\tilde{Y}(\omega) = \left[Y(\omega) \ Y(\omega - \frac{2\pi}{p}) \ \cdots \ Y(\omega - \frac{2\pi(p-1)}{p})\right]^T.$$

we have

$$\bar{A}(\omega)\bar{Y}(\omega) = \bar{B}(\omega)\bar{U}(\omega), \qquad (2.4)$$

where the (0, m) elements of \overline{A} are given by

$$\bar{A}^{(0,m)}(\omega) = \sum_{i=0}^{k} e^{-(\omega - \frac{2\pi m}{p})ji} \bar{a}_{i,m},$$

and the rest of the elements are found using the pseudo-circulant property of \overline{A} . Note that the numbering starts from zero. Similarly the elements of the first row of the matrix \overline{B} can be obtained as

$$\bar{B}^{(0,m)}(\omega) = \sum_{i=0}^{l} e^{-(\omega - \frac{2\pi m}{p})ji} \bar{b}_{i,m}$$

From (2.4) we get

$$\bar{Y}(\omega) = \bar{A}^{-1}(\omega)\bar{B}(\omega)\bar{U}(\omega).$$
(2.5)

The matrix $\overline{A}^{-1}(\omega)\overline{B}(\omega)$ is called the alias-component matrix of the system G and relates the input and the output of the system in the frequency domain.

Noting that the Fourier transform of a periodic input u(n) is given by

$$U(\omega) = 2\pi \sum_{m=0}^{p-1} \bar{u}_m \delta(\omega - \frac{2\pi m}{p}),$$

and substituting in equation (2.4), we see that the output will be periodic, and its Fourier coefficients can be obtained by solving

$$\bar{A}(0)\bar{Y}=\bar{B}(0)\bar{U},$$

where $\bar{U} = [\bar{u}_0 \ \bar{u}_{p-1} \ \bar{u}_{p-2} \ \cdots \ \bar{u}_1]^T$, and $\bar{Y} = [\bar{y}_0 \ \bar{y}_{p-1} \ \bar{y}_{p-2} \ \cdots \ \bar{y}_1]^T$. This is equation (2.2) in the matrix form, as we expected. In other words, the steady-state output of the system can be calculated directly by using the alias-component matrix at $\omega = 0$. From here, we see that equation (2.2) will be singular, if and only if matrix \bar{A} does not have full rank at $\omega = 0$.

In the next section, we shall consider the representation of LPTV system by LSTV systems.

2.2 LSTV Systems

An LPTV system with period p can be modeled by a system consisting of p LTI systems and a periodic switch at the output (Figure 2.2) or input (Figure 2.3). The LTI blocks



Figure 2.2: The structure of an LSTV system with a switch at the output.



Figure 2.3: The structure of an LSTV system with a switch in the input.

in Figure 2.2 can be obtained as follows. The input-output relationship of a linear causal time-varying system is given by

$$y(k) = \sum_{l=-\infty}^{k} g(k,l)u(l), \qquad (2.6)$$

where y(k) is the output at time k, u(l) the input at time l, and g(k, l) is the output of the system at time k when the input is a unit impulse at time l. For an LPTV system with period p, the shift invariance property results

$$g(k+p, l+p) = g(k, l).$$

By substituting

$$h(l,k) = g(k,k-l)$$
 (2.7)

into (2.6), we have

$$y(k) = \sum_{l=-\infty}^{k} h(k-l,k)u(l).$$

If we assume that the LTI system H_i has the impulse response h(l, i), then y(i) is the output of H_i at time *i* to the input sequence u(l). The *p*-periodic condition on *g* gives

$$h(l,i) = h(l,i+p).$$

Thus LTI blocks H_i and H_{i+p} are the same, and only p LTI systems $H_0, H_1, ..., H_{p-1}$ are sufficient. Figure 2.2 shows the LSTV system that results. The switch connects the input to H_0 at time k = 0, then to H_1 at k = 1, and so on; at k = p, it connects back to H_0 and repeats. When the switch is not connected to a block, the input to the block is assumed to be zero. For ease of reference, we will represent the LSTV system in Figure 2.2 by $\{H_0, H_1, \dots, H_{p-1}\}_o$, the subscript indicating the switch at the output.

From (2.7) it follows that there is a one-to-one correspondence between LPTV systems and LSTV systems. In other words there is no redundancy in the LSTV representation. The outputs of LTI blocks, H_i are the same as the output of the periodic system G at time i + lk, for an integer l, thus G is stable if and only if H_i are stable. It can be shown similarly that an LPTV system with period p can be represented by a system consisting of p LTI systems and a periodic switch at the input, as shown in Figure 2.3. We will represent the system in Figure 2.3 by $\{F_0, F_1, \dots, F_{p-1}\}_i$, the subscript indicating the switch at the input. Although the two LSTV systems are equivalent, for a specific application, one may be more useful than the other.

The frequency response of G can be related to that of the LTI systems in the LSTV structure in Figure 2.3. Let $G = \{F_0, F_1, \dots, F_{p-1}\}_i$, as shown in Figure 2.3. The input to F_i block, $u_i(n)$ is equal to the input u(n) at time n = i + lp, for any integer l, and zero otherwise. Thus we can write

$$u_i(n) = u(n) \left(\frac{1}{p} \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} W_p^{-(n-i)k} \right),$$

where $W_p = e^{-2\pi j/p}$. Taking the z-transform of both sides of this equation, we have

$$U_{i}(z) = \frac{1}{p} \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} U(zW_{p}^{k})W_{p}^{ik}.$$

The output of G is

$$Y(z) = \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} U_i(z) F_i(z)$$

= $\frac{1}{p} \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} F_i(z) W_p^{ik} U(z W_p^k)$
= $\sum_{k=0}^{p-1} \left[\frac{1}{p} \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} F_i(z) W_p^{ik} \right] U(z W_p^k).$

The system G is an LTI system, if Y(z) depends only on U(z). Thus G is LTI, if and only if $\sum_{i=0}^{p-1} F_i(z) W_p^{ik}$ is equal to zero for 0 < k < p. This is true if and only if all of F_i are equal.

Similarly it can be shown that an LSTV system in Figure 2.2 becomes an LTI system if and only if all H_i are equal.

Such a condition can be generalized to find a subclass of LPTV systems within a class of LPTV systems. Let p_1 and p_2 be positive integers. An LPTV system with period p_1 , $G = \{\tilde{H}_0, \tilde{H}_1, \dots, \tilde{H}_{p_1-1}\}_o$, is in the class of LPTV systems with period p_1p_2 ; and thus it can be represented by an LSTV structure $G = \{H_0, H_1, \dots, H_{p_1p_2-1}\}_o$, consisting of p_1p_2 LTI blocks and a periodic switch. Since a shift of p_1 samples in the input sequence results in a shift of p_1 samples in the output, for $0 \le i < p_1$ and $0 \le j < p_2$, the systems H_i and H_{i+jp_1} are the same, and for $0 \le i < p_1$, $H_i = \tilde{H}_i$. In other words, in the class of LPTV systems with period p_1p_2 , the subclass of LPTV systems with period p_1 are those satisfying

$$H_{i+jp_1} = \tilde{H}_i, \quad j = 0, 1, \dots, p_2 - 1; \quad i = 0, 1, \dots, p_1 - 1.$$

Turning to norms for LPTV systems, either the structure in Figure 2.2 or the one in Figure 2.3 may be more useful. For example, in the calculation of the ℓ_1 norm of an LPTV system, the structure in Figure 2.2 is simpler to use: The following lemma gives the ℓ_1 norm of an LPTV system.

Lemma 1 The ℓ_1 norm of an LPTV system $G = \{H_0, H_1, \dots, H_{p-1}\}_o$ is given by

$$\|G\|_1 = \max_{0 \le i \le p} \{\|H_i\|_1\}.$$

Let ℓ_{∞} be the discrete-time signal space of bounded signals; the norm of u, denoted $||u||_{\infty}$, is defined as the least upper bound of the sequence |u(n)|. Recall that the ℓ_1 norm of a linear system G is ℓ_{∞} induced, i.e., if y = Gu, then

$$||G||_1 = \sup_{u\neq 0} \frac{||y||_{\infty}}{||u||_{\infty}}.$$

If we represent G by $\{H_0, H_1, \dots, H_{p-1}\}_o$ as in Figure 2.2, then since the output of G is switched from the outputs of H_i , we have

$$||G||_1 \le \max_{0 \le i \le p} \{||H_i||_1\}.$$

Now, let u be a maximizing input for H_i , i.e., ||u|| = 1 and $||H_iu||_{\infty} = ||H_i||_1$. (Here, we assume that the supremum is actually obtainable by a maximizing input; otherwise, we have to use a maximizing input sequence $\{u_k\}$ and the argument below is still valid.) Using this u with possibly some delay as an input to G we get that $||Gu||_{\infty} \ge ||H_iu||_{\infty} = ||H_i||_1$. Hence

$$||G||_1 \ge \max_{0 \le i \le n} \{||H_i||_1\}.$$

Therefore, the result in Lemma 1 follows.

Next, we turn to \mathcal{H}_2 norms of LPTV systems. To define the \mathcal{H}_2 norm of an LPTV system with period p, p unit impulses at time 0 through time p-1 are applied to the input of the system. The \mathcal{H}_2 norm is the square root of the average of the squares of the 2-norms of the outputs to these inputs. The \mathcal{H}_2 norm can be related to the LTI blocks in Figure 2.3 as follows.

Lemma 2 The \mathcal{H}_2 norm of an LPTV system $G = \{F_0, F_1, \dots, F_{p-1}\}_i$ is given by

$$||G||_{2} = \left(\frac{1}{p}\sum_{i=0}^{p-1} ||F_{i}||_{2}^{2}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(2.8)

Proof By applying the impulse δ_{k-i} to the input of the LSTV system G, because of the switch, only the *i*-th block F_i has an input not identically equal to zero. The output of the system to this input is

$$Y_i(z)=F_i(z)z^{-i},$$

and the 2-norm of this output is equal to $||F_i||_2$. By averaging the squares of the norms of the outputs of G due to impulses at time 0 through p-1, the lemma follows.

The \mathcal{H}_2 norm of an LPTV system can be also related to the LTI blocks in Figure 2.2.

Lemma 3 The \mathcal{H}_2 norm of an LPTV system $G = \{H_0, H_1, \dots, H_{p-1}\}_o$ is given by

$$||G||_{2} = \left(\frac{1}{p}\sum_{j=0}^{p-1} ||H_{j}||_{2}^{2}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(2.9)

Proof Since the switch is at the output, we need to use the polyphase decomposition [34] of the LTI blocks H_j :

$$H_j(z) = \sum_{l=0}^{p-1} \hat{H}_{jl}(z^p) z^{-l}$$

The output of this block to the impulse at time k = i is $\sum_{l=0}^{p-1} \hat{H}_{j,l}(z^p) z^{-(l+i)}$. The output of the system at sampling times j + rp (r is an integer) are taken from the j-th block; so if we define $\tilde{Y}_j^i(z)$ as the contribution of the j-th block due to impulse input δ_{k-i} , we have

$$Y_{ji}(z) = \begin{cases} \hat{H}_{j,p+j-i}(z^p)z^{-(j+p)}, & \text{for } j < i, \\ \hat{H}_{j,j-i}(z^p)z^{-j}, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Thus, the overall output due to input δ_{k-i} is

$$Y^i = \sum_{j=0}^{p-1} Y_{ji}(z)$$

and so

$$||Y^{i}||_{2}^{2} = \sum_{j=0}^{p-1} ||\hat{H}_{j,(j-i) \mod p}||_{2}^{2},$$

where "a mod p" gives the remainder of the division of a by p. From the definition of the \mathcal{H}_2 norm it follows that

$$||G||_{2}^{2} = \frac{1}{p} \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} ||Y^{i}||^{2} = \frac{1}{p} \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} \sum_{j=0}^{p-1} ||\hat{H}_{j,(j-i) \mod p}||_{2}^{2}$$

Since all of the indices of polyphase components of H_j appear once in the above, we have

$$||G||_2^2 = \frac{1}{p} \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} \sum_{j=0}^{p-1} ||\hat{H}_{j,i}||_2^2.$$

The lemma follows immediately by noting

$$||H_j||_2^2 = \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} ||\hat{H}_{j,i}||_2^2$$

Based on (2.8) and (2.9), for an LSTV system, the minimization of the \mathcal{H}_2 norm of the system can be done in terms of the \mathcal{H}_2 norms of the LTI blocks. In the next section, these results are applied to find explicit solutions of some optimal approximation problem.

2.3 Optimal Approximation

In this section, we approximate an LPTV system G with period p by an LPTV system \tilde{G} with period \tilde{p} so that the impulse response of \tilde{G} is as close as possible to that of G. The objective is to minimize the \mathcal{H}_2 norm of the error system, $G - \tilde{G}$, as shown in Figure 2.4.



Figure 2.4: The approximation scheme.

We use the LSTV structure in Figure 2.2 for G and \tilde{G} :

$$G = \{H_0, H_1, \cdots, H_{p-1}\}_o, \qquad (2.10)$$

$$\tilde{G} = \{\tilde{H}_0, \tilde{H}_1, \cdots, \tilde{H}_{\tilde{p}-1}\}_o.$$
(2.11)

The following theorem gives the \mathcal{H}_2 -optimal approximation in the general case when p and \tilde{p} are two arbitrary positive integers.

Theorem 1 Let \bar{p} be the greatest common divisor of p and \tilde{p} . Write $p = q\bar{p}$. Then the optimal approximant is in fact LPTV with period \bar{p} : If we represent $\tilde{G}^{opt} = {\tilde{H}_0^{opt}, \tilde{H}_1^{opt}, \dots, \tilde{H}_{\bar{p}-1}^{opt}}_{opt}$, then

$$\tilde{H}_{r}^{opt} = \frac{1}{q} \sum_{m=0}^{q-1} H_{r+m\bar{p}}, \quad r = 0, 1, \cdots, \bar{p} - 1.$$
(2.12)

The proof of this theorem involves the following result from the number theory.

Lemma 4 (Chinese Remainder Theorem [3])

Let q and \tilde{q} be two coprime positive integers. For each pair of integers m and \tilde{m} satisfying $0 \le m < q$ and $0 \le \tilde{m} < \tilde{q}$, there exists one and only one integer k with $0 \le k < q\tilde{q}$ such that

$$m = k \mod q, \quad \tilde{m} = k \mod \tilde{q}.$$
 (2.13)

This lemma establishes a one-to-one correspondence between the integer set $\{k : 0 \le k < q\tilde{q}\}$ and the set of integer pairs $\{(m, \tilde{m}) : 0 \le m < q, 0 \le \tilde{m} < \tilde{q}\}$ while the relations in (2.13) are satisfied.

Proof of Theorem 1 Write $\tilde{p} = \tilde{q}\tilde{p}$ and $G' = G - \tilde{G}$. It follows that G' is LPTV with period $p' = q\tilde{q}\tilde{p}$, the least common multiple of the periods for G and \tilde{G} . Hence G' has an LSTV structure $G' = \{H'_0, H'_1, \dots, H'_{p'-1}\}_o$. To relate H'_i to LTI systems in (2.10) and (2.11), we note that G also has an LSTV structure with period p', as was discussed in the preceding section:

$$G = \{H_0, H_1, \cdots, H_{p-1}, H_0, H_1, \cdots, H_{p-1}, \cdots, H_0, H_1, \cdots, H_{p-1}\}_o.$$

Similarly, \tilde{G} can be represented by an LSTV structure with period p':

$$\tilde{G} = \{\tilde{H}_0, \tilde{H}_1, \cdots, \tilde{H}_{\tilde{p}-1}, \tilde{H}_0, \tilde{H}_1, \cdots, \tilde{H}_{\tilde{p}-1}, \cdots, \tilde{H}_0, \tilde{H}_1, \cdots, \tilde{H}_{\tilde{p}-1}\}_o.$$

Thus the LTI blocks in G' can be written:

$$H'_i = H_i \mod p - H_i \mod p, \quad i = 0, 1, \dots, p' - 1.$$

By the definition of the \mathcal{H}_2 norm, our optimization problem is to find LTI systems \tilde{H}_i to minimize

$$J = \frac{1}{p'} \sum_{i=0}^{p'-1} \|H_i'\|_2^2 = \frac{1}{p'} \sum_{i=0}^{p'-1} \|H_i \mod_p - \tilde{H}_i \mod_{\tilde{p}}\|_2^2.$$
(2.14)

In the above summation *i* goes from 0 to p' - 1; this is the same as $r + k\bar{p}$ where *r* goes from 0 to $\bar{p} - 1$ and *k* from 0 to $q\bar{q} - 1$, since $p' = q\bar{q}\bar{p}$. So the quantity *J* in (2.14) can be written as

$$J = \frac{1}{p'} \sum_{k=0}^{q\bar{q}-1} \sum_{r=0}^{\bar{p}-1} \|H_{(r+k\bar{p}) \mod p} - \tilde{H}_{(r+k\bar{p}) \mod \bar{p}}\|_{2}^{2}.$$
 (2.15)

In order to simplify further, we invoke Lemma 4: For every k with $0 \le k \le q\tilde{q} - 1$, there exist integers m and \tilde{m} satisfying

$$m = k \mod q, \quad \tilde{m} = k \mod \tilde{q},$$

or equivalently, for some integers l and \tilde{l} ,

$$k = m + lq = \tilde{m} + \tilde{l}\tilde{q}; \tag{2.16}$$

moreover, as k goes from 0 to $q\tilde{q} - 1$, m goes from 0 to q - 1 and \tilde{m} from 0 to $\tilde{q} - 1$. Substituting (2.16) into (2.15) and noting

$$(r+k\bar{p}) \mod p = [r+(m+lq)\bar{p}] \mod p = r+m\bar{p},$$
$$(r+k\bar{p}) \mod \bar{p} = [r+(\tilde{m}+\tilde{l}\bar{q})\bar{p}] \mod \bar{p} = r+\bar{m}\bar{p},$$

$$J = \frac{1}{p'} \sum_{\bar{m}=0}^{\bar{q}-1} \sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \sum_{r=0}^{\bar{p}-1} ||H_{r+m\bar{p}} - \tilde{H}_{r+\bar{m}\bar{p}}||_{2}^{2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{p'} \sum_{\bar{m}=0}^{\bar{q}-1} \sum_{r=0}^{\bar{p}-1} \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} ||H_{r+m\bar{p}} - \tilde{H}_{r+\bar{m}\bar{p}}||_{2}^{2} \right]$$

Note that each $\tilde{H}_{r+\bar{m}\bar{p}}$ only appears q times in J in the inner summation; hence the optimization problem of minimizing J over $\tilde{H}_{r+\bar{m}\bar{p}}$ can be broken down into \tilde{p} ($\tilde{p} = \tilde{q}\bar{p}$) sub-problems of minimizing

$$J_{r+\bar{m}\bar{p}} = \sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \|H_{r+m\bar{p}} - \tilde{H}_{r+\bar{m}\bar{p}}\|_2^2 \quad (0 \le r < \bar{p}, \ 0 \le \tilde{m} < \tilde{q})$$

over only a single LTI block. From here, it follows that the optimal $H_{r+\tilde{m}\tilde{p}}$ is given by

$$\tilde{H}_{r+\tilde{m}\bar{p}}^{opt} = \frac{1}{q} \sum_{m=0}^{q-1} H_{r+m\bar{p}}, \quad r = 0, 1, \cdots, \bar{p} - 1; \quad \tilde{m} = 0, 1, \cdots, \tilde{q} - 1.$$
(2.17)

It is evident that this optimal approximant is in fact LSTV with period \bar{p} and hence it can be represented with only the first \bar{p} LTI systems in (2.17); this proves (2.12).

In Theorem 1, if p and \tilde{p} are coprime, or more specifically, if $\tilde{p} = 1$ (in this case we would like to approximate an LPTV system G by an LTI one), then the optimal approximant is LTI and is given by the average of the LTI blocks of G. The optimal approximation of LPTV systems by LTI systems was reported in [8] in terms of aliasing component matrix representation of LPTV systems.

2.4 Summary

In this chapter, we studied the alias-component matrices and switching representation of LPTV systems. For an LPTV system the alias-component matrix yields the response to

periodic and aperiodic inputs: For periodic inputs, the Fourier series is used, and the outputs are found by solving systems of linear equations. For aperiodic inputs, the Fourier transform is used and the alias-component matrix of the system is obtained. This results in expressing the alias-component matrix in terms of the Fourier series of the parameters of the system. As we showed, the steady-state response may be obtained using the alias-component matrix at $\omega = 0$ directly. Although the results are obtained for difference equations, they can be extended to state-space models readily.

In the second part of the chapter, we have discussed representations of LPTV systems using two linear switching time-varying structures: Basic properties have been derived and applied to optimal approximation problems involving LPTV systems. The approximation results are useful in analyzing aliasing effects in LPTV systems in a more refined manner: For example, for an LPTV system with period $p = p_1p_2$, we can decompose the system into its LTI component, its component corresponding to an LPTV system with period p_1 , and so on. The errors involved in representing the LPTV system by its various component systems can be easily analyzed based on the results of this chapter. In the next chapter, we introduce rate changers, and generalize the results in Section 2.3 to multirate systems.

Chapter 3 Rate changers

Rate changers are used as interface between systems that are operating at different sampling rates. Rate changers also serve as building blocks in more complex multirate systems such as nonuniform filter banks and transmultiplexers.

We will start this chapter by reviewing some of the fundamentals of upsamplers, downsamplers, and rate changers in Section 3.1. Then in Section 3.2, we shall discuss how to obtain the transfer matrix of a rate changer, which we need in the next chapters. In Section 3.3, we extend the results presented in Section 2.3 to a more general setup involving multirate periodic systems.

3.1 Fundamentals

A rate changer is shown in Figure 3.1. It consists of three main elements, an upsampler by p which increases the input sampling rate by a factor of p, an LTI system that processes the data, and a downsampler by q which decreases the sampling rate of the signal by q. If either p or q are equal to 1, a rate changer that changes the sampling rate by an integer factor is obtained.

The upsampler by p inserts p-1 zeros between each two consecutive samples, thus its



Figure 3.1: A sample-rate changer.

output u is related to its input x by:

$$u(k) = \begin{cases} x(k/p), & \text{if } p \text{ divides } k, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

From this it follows that in the frequency domain we have

$$U(z) = X(z^p).$$

Therefore as shown in Figure 3.2, the upsampler contracts the input spectrum in $[-\pi, \pi]$ to $[-\frac{\pi}{p}, \frac{\pi}{p}]$, and the spectrum of the output becomes periodic with period $\frac{2\pi}{p}$. By filtering this output, we may eliminate the portion of spectrum outside $[-\frac{\pi}{p}, \frac{\pi}{p}]$.

The downsampler by q deletes q - 1 samples between each consecutive q samples at kqand (k + 1)q for any integer k. The output of the downsampler y is related to its input v, by

$$y(k)=v(k q).$$

In the frequency domain, we have

$$Y(z^q) = rac{1}{q} \sum_{i=0}^{q-1} V(zW_q^i),$$

where $W_q = e^{2\pi j/q}$. The terms $V(zW_q^i)$ are the shifted copies of V(z) by the frequency shift $\frac{2\pi i}{q}$. If the signal is not band-limited to the region $|\omega| < \pi/q$, when these terms are added, they overlap in a region, and therefore aliasing will result. Because of the aliasing, it will not be possible to recover the original signal from the downsampled signal anymore. For



Figure 3.2: a) Input signal, b) upsampled signal by 3 (p = 3), c) downsampled signal by 3 (q=3), amplitude versus normalized frequency.

example if we downsample the signal in Figure 3.2a, as the bandwidth of the signal is more than $\pi/3$, the translated versions will overlap, and the spectrum of the downsampled signal will not be the compressed version of the original signal. The effect of aliasing is shown in Figure 3.2c. In order to eliminate the effect of aliasing, we may pre-filter the input to the downsampler by a lowpass filter with a cutoff frequency of $\omega_c = 2\pi/q$.

The need for pre-filtering in case of sampling rate reduction, and post-filtering in case of sampling rate increase may be explained by an assessment of the Nyquist rate of signals in a multirate system. As we mentioned before, by rate changing we expect to obtain a signal that has the same characteristics of the original analog signal. An upsampler merely increases the sampling rate by inserting zeros between each two consecutive samples, but by filtering this signal we obtain a close replica of the original analog signal. The signal before upsampling contains only the portion of the analog spectrum with frequencies less than its Nyquist rate. Therefore the rest of the spectrum of the analog signal may not be recovered from the input signal. This results in an output signal with a spectrum that is identically zero for the frequency range $|\omega| > 2\pi/p$. Similarly, when a signal is downsampled, its Nyquist rate decreases, and the portion of spectrum that is beyond the Nyquist rate of the downsampled signal may not be kept. Therefore, the signal should be pre-filtered to avoid aliasing.

Take the multirate system in Figure 3.1. For p > q, as the upsampling factor is higher than the downsampling factor, the rate changer increases the sampling rate of the input by the fractional ratio of p/q. The upsampler contracts the spectrum of the input in $[-\pi, \pi]$ to cover the range $[-\frac{\pi}{p}, \frac{\pi}{p}]$ of the spectrum of u, and the rest of the spectrum of u is a shifted version of this portion. If we assume that the kernel system F is a lowpass filter with the cutoff frequency $\omega_c = \pi/p$, then the repeated part of the spectrum of u which appears outside $[-\frac{\pi}{p}, \frac{\pi}{p}]$ is deleted by the filter. The downsampler contracts the input spectrum in $[-\pi, \pi]$ to $[-\frac{q}{p}\pi, \frac{q}{p}\pi]$, and the rest of the spectrum of y is identically zero. For p < q, the rate changer decreases the sampling rate. Because in this case the rate changer expands a part of the input spectrum in the output, the rest of the input spectrum should be eliminated by the filter F to avoid aliasing. If we take the filter F to be a lowpass filter with the cutoff frequency $\omega_c = \pi/q$, then with an argument similar to the previous case, we can show that the rate-changer maps input spectrum in $\left[-\frac{p}{q}\pi, \frac{p}{q}\pi\right]$ to cover the whole spectrum of the output y in $\left[-\pi, \pi\right]$.

In summary, if we assume that the kernel system F is a lowpass filter with the cutoff frequency $\omega_c = \min(\pi/p, \pi/q)$, the rate changer will map the input spectrum in $[0, \min(\pi, \frac{p}{q}\pi)]$ to cover the range $[0 \min(\pi, \frac{q}{p}\pi)]$ of the spectrum of the output. Therefore, the filter Fserves to eliminate the unwanted effects due to aliasing or imaging, and the rate changer retains the shape of the spectrum in the frequency band of interest.

3.2 Transfer Matrices of the Blocked Systems

Consider the system shown in Figure 3.1, where F is an LTI filter. For this system, a delay of q samples in the input sequence results in a delay of pq samples in the input to the filter; because the filter is time-invariant, its output is delayed by pq samples, and consequently the output of the overall system is delayed by p samples. Thus by defining the blocking of a signal x as

$$\underline{x}(n) = [x(np)x(np+1)\cdots x(np+p-1)]^T,$$

we see that if we block the input sequence into blocks of length q and the output sequence into blocks of length p, we will get a p by q LTI system.

The transfer matrix of the blocked system is obtained as follows [6]: A block of q samples in the input corresponds to a block of pq samples in the input of the filter. In the frequency domain, the relation between the input and output of the filter is given by

$$\underline{Y} = \hat{F}\underline{X},$$

where <u>X</u> is the pq blocked input, <u>Y</u> is the pq blocked output and \hat{F} is the pq by pq blocked transfer matrix of the filter F. The matrix \hat{F} is pseudo-circulant, and its components are related to the polyphase components \hat{F}_i of F in

$$F(z) = \sum_{i=0}^{pq-1} z^{-i} \hat{F}_i(z^{pq}),$$

as:

$$\hat{F} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{F}_0 & z^{-1}\hat{F}_{pq-1} & \cdots & z^{-1}\hat{F}_1 \\ \hat{F}_1 & \hat{F}_0 & \cdots & z^{-1}\hat{F}_2 \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ \hat{F}_{pq-1} & \hat{F}_{pq-2} & \cdots & \hat{F}_0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Because of the upsampler, all of the elements of \underline{X} are zero except the 0, p, ..., p(q-1) elements. Furthermore, because of the downsampler, only the elements with indices that are a factor of q appear in the output, so if we take the pq polyphase matrix of the filter, and set the inputs at sampling instances that are not a multiple of p to zero, then the output of the filter at sampling times $0, q, ..., (p-1)q, \cdots$, appears in the output of the overall system at the sampling instances $0, 1, ..., p-1, \cdots$, respectively. Thus, the effect of the upsampler is equivalent to eliminating all of the columns of \hat{F} matrix except the 0, p, ..., p(q-1) columns (we assume that the numbering starts from 0), and the effect of the downsampler is equivalent to eliminating all of the rows except 0, q, ..., p(q-1) rows. In other words, the (k, l) element of the transfer matrix of the blocked system \underline{F} is the (kq, lp) element of the blocked transfer matrix of \hat{F} or,

$$\underline{F}^{(k,l)} = \hat{F}^{(kq,lp)}, \qquad 0 \le k < p, \quad 0 \le l < q.$$

(The underline indicates a blocked transfer matrix.)

It is easy to show that each of the polyphase components of the filter F appears only once in \underline{F} if and only if p and q are coprime.

In the next chapter we use the results of this section in our analysis and design of nonuniform multirate filter banks. In the case the kernel system is not LTI, we get a system which is more general than the one we discussed in this section. We use these more general multirate systems in our design of nonuniform multirate systems. Because a system with an LPTV kernel has the same input and output sampling rates as an LTI system, one interesting problem would be to study the relationship of such systems with regard to a subclass of systems that have LTI kernels. We will study this issue further in the next section.

3.3 Optimal Approximation of General Multirate Systems

In this section, we extend the results that we obtained in Section 2.3 to multirate systems. Take the system shown in Figure 3.1. Let F be an LTI filter. For this system the input x, and the output y are related by

$$y(l) = \sum f(lq - kp) x(k).$$

From the above relationship we see that if the input sequence is delayed by q samples, the output will be delayed by p samples. Therefore, if we denote the system by \mathcal{G} and the unit-delay operator by z^{-1} , we have

$$z^{-p}\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}z^{-q}.\tag{3.1}$$

In other words, a delay of q samples in the input sequence results in a delay of p samples in the output sequence. Thus, in a real-time implementation, the output sampling rate is p/q times the input sampling rate. We will refer to this system as a (p,q)-periodic system.

We may compare two systems when they have the same input and output sampling rates, which means that they should have the same ratio p/q. When p and q are coprime a rate changer representation with an LTI kernel is the most general form. A (p,q)-periodic system is more interesting from an application viewpoint, if the integers p and q are not coprime [9]. In the general case, we may represent a (p,q)-periodic system similar to an LPTV system, i.e.,

$$y(l) = \sum g(l,k)x(k).$$

Because of the periodic condition on the system, the impulse response of the system has the property

$$g(k+p, l+q) = g(k, l), \quad \forall k, l.$$

Let *m* be the greatest common divisor of *p* and *q*, and write $p = \bar{p}m$ and $q = \bar{q}m$. We can represent a (p, q)-periodic system by the system shown in Figure 3.3, which involves the upsampler $\uparrow \bar{p}$, the downsampler $\downarrow \bar{q}$, *m* LTI systems F_0, F_1, \dots, F_{m-1} , and a periodic switch which connects each channel for $\bar{p}\bar{q}$ samples starting from time k = 0 and system F_0 [9].



Figure 3.3: The structure of a (p, q)-periodic system.

The structure in Figure 3.3 is written

$$\mathcal{G} = \{F_0, F_1, \cdots, F_{m-1}\}^{\bar{p}, \bar{q}}.$$
(3.2)

For a linear (p, q)-periodic system, the output of the system is known for any input, if the response of the system is known to unit impulses at time 0 through q-1. In order to define the \mathcal{H}_2 norm of linear (p, q)-periodic systems, we apply q unit impulses at time 0 through q-1. The \mathcal{H}_2 norm is the square root of the average of the squares of the 2-norms of the outputs to these inputs. With an argument similar to that in Lemma 2 and Lemma 3, the \mathcal{H}_2 norm of \mathcal{G} can be related to the LTI blocks in its representation in Figure 4.5:

$$\|\mathcal{G}\|_2^2 = \frac{1}{q} \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \|F_i\|_2^2$$

When p and q are coprime (m = 1), the representation has a simple form; otherwise for an integer $1 \leq \tilde{m} < m$, we can pose the following approximation problem: Given a (p, q)periodic system as in (3.2), find its \mathcal{H}_2 -optimal approximant $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}$ which is $(\tilde{m}\bar{p}, \tilde{m}\bar{q})$ -periodic. Note that such $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}$ leaves the sampling conversion ratio unchanged.

The more interesting case is when \tilde{m} is a divisor of m; in this case we write $m = n\tilde{m}$; such a system $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}$ can be represented by

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}} = \{\tilde{F}_0, \tilde{F}_1, \cdots, \tilde{F}_{\tilde{m}-1}\}^{\tilde{p}, \tilde{q}}.$$

It is clear that this system is also (p,q)-periodic and hence can be also represented by

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}} = \{\tilde{F}_0, \tilde{F}_1, \cdots, \tilde{F}_{\tilde{m}-1}, \tilde{F}_0, \tilde{F}_1, \cdots, \tilde{F}_{\tilde{m}-1}, \cdots, \tilde{F}_0, \tilde{F}_1, \cdots, \tilde{F}_{\tilde{m}-1}\}^{\bar{p}, \bar{q}},$$

where the total number of the LTI blocks is m. Now the error system $\mathcal{G}' = \mathcal{G} - \tilde{\mathcal{G}}$ is (p,q)-periodic with $\mathcal{G}' = \{F'_0, F'_1, \cdots, F'_{m-1}\}^{\bar{p},\bar{q}}$; the LTI blocks are given by

$$F'_i = F_i - \bar{F}_i \mod \bar{m}, \quad i = 0, 1, \cdots, m-1.$$

So the optimal approximation problem is to select LTI systems $\tilde{F}'_0, \tilde{F}'_1, \dots, \tilde{F}'_{\tilde{m}-1}$ to minimize

$$\|\mathcal{G}'\|_2^2 = \frac{1}{q} \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} \|F_i - \tilde{F}_i \mod_{\bar{m}}\|_2^2$$

$$= \frac{1}{q} \sum_{r=0}^{\bar{m}-1} \sum_{l=0}^{n-1} ||F_{r+l\bar{m}} - \bar{F}_r||_2^2.$$

Thus it follows that the optimal approximant \tilde{G} has the following LTI blocks

$$\tilde{F}_r^{opt} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{l=0}^{n-1} F_{r+l\tilde{p}}, \quad r = 0, 1, \cdots, \tilde{m} - 1.$$

3.4 Summary

In this section we studied some issues related to rate changers. We reviewed the response of rate changers in the frequency domain, and discussed their behavior when the kernel filter in a lowpass filter. Then we presented the transfer matrix of a blocked rate changer. At the end of the chapter, we studied general periodic systems and the approximation of them by simpler multirate systems. In the next chapters we will use rate changers in the design of nonuniform filter banks and transmultiplexers.

Chapter 4

\mathcal{H}_2 Optimal Design of Nonuniform Filter Banks

In the previous chapters, we studied some issues related to periodic systems, rate changers, and general periodic systems. In this chapter, we will use some of the materials presented in the previous chapters to design nonuniform filter banks using the model-matching method. By some examples, we show that good filter banks can be designed for cases where even alias cancellation is not possible.

This chapter is organized as follows. In section 4.1, we will introduce the nonuniform filter banks. Sections 4.2 and 4.3 describe the solution method. In Section 4.2, the transfer matrix of the blocked system is discussed and in Section 4.3, the design problem is transformed to the least squares solution of a system of linear equations. Section 4.4 provides some design examples. Section 4.5 concludes the chapter.

4.1 Introduction

A nonuniform multirate filter bank is shown in Figure 4.1. If the ensemble average of the energy of the signal varies greatly in different frequency bands, a high coding gain can be achieved. In an m-channel maximally decimated uniform filter bank all channels have the

same downsampling factor $q_i = m$ and upsampling factor $p_i = 1$. The design techniques for these filter banks are well developed, and it is generally possible to find filters so that the exact replica of the input is reconstructed in the output [34]. In a maximally decimated uniform filter bank, because of the Nyquist sampling theorem, the bandwidth of the filters should be equal to $\frac{\pi}{m}$. In a nonuniform filter bank, the sampling rates are not the same in all channels, and thus filters in different channels may have different bandwidths.

The nonuniform filter bank splits the signal into frequency bands:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0, \frac{p_0}{q_0} \pi \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \sum_{k=0}^{i-1} \frac{p_k}{q_k} \pi, \sum_{k=0}^{i} \frac{p_k}{q_k} \pi \end{bmatrix} \quad i = 1, \cdots, m-1.$$
(4.1)

The higher bound for the last channel should be equal to π , i.e.,

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{p_k}{q_k} = 1$$

For a fixed number of channels, the extra degree of freedom results in a situation where



Figure 4.1: A general nonuniform filter bank.

we can select the bandwidth of filters so that the variance of the energy of the signals in different channels is further increased; this in turn increases the coding gain. In some cases, the problem of the design of a nonuniform filter bank may either be converted to the problem of the design of a uniform filter bank [18] or solved by a method developed for uniform filter banks [6, 9], but generally structural constraints may arise [9, 12] which make the design problem different from that of a uniform filter bank [7, 13, 14, 34].

Figure 4.2 shows a 3-channel nonuniform maximally decimated filter bank. As mentioned in [12], this filter bank can be converted to a uniform 6-channel filter bank as shown in Figure 4.3, where the first two and the last three analysis and synthesis filters are related to each other. Therefore, the design problem of this nonuniform filter bank is reduced to that of a uniform filter bank, where some filters are related to each other.



Figure 4.2: A 3-channel nonuniform filter bank.

By substituting filters F_0 and H_0 by 2-periodic systems and filters F_2 and H_2 by 3periodic systems, we are able to eliminate the interdependence between the filters in Figure 4.3. For example, consider the first channel of the nonuniform filter bank shown in Figure 4.2 and assume that H_0 is an LTI block, but F_0 is a 2-periodic block. The combination of downsampler and upsampler by a factor of 3 can be represented by the subsystem shown in Figure 4.4, and the 2-periodic subsystem F_0 can be represented by a subsystem consisting of a switch and two LTI blocks, as shown in Figure 4.5. The switch is periodic and connects to Φ_{00} initially, to Φ_{01} at the next sampling time, back to Φ_{00} and repeats.



Figure 4.3: The equivalent uniform filter bank.



Figure 4.4: An equivalent representation of a downsampler followed by an upsampler by a factor of 3.

The output is formed by adding the outputs of Φ_{00} and Φ_{01} . Now, if we cascade these two equivalent subsystems, because of the presence of the periodic switch, the output of the first channel in the equivalent representation of Figure 4.4 does not affect the second block Φ_{01} and the output of the second channel does not affect the first block Φ_{00} . Therefore, we can eliminate the summation and the switch. By cascading H_0 and the input block of Figure 4.4, we obtain a representation similar to the first two channels in Figure 4.3, but the F_0 block is substituted by Φ_{00} and the z^3F_0 block is substituted by $z^3\Phi_{01}$. Since Φ_{00} and Φ_{01} are not interrelated, the interdependence between the synthesis filters in the first two channels of the equivalent representation is eliminated.

Similarly, by substituting H_0 by a 2-periodic system, we can show that the interdependence between the analysis filters can be eliminated. However, in this case we should use another equivalent representation of 2-periodic systems which consists of two LTI blocks with common inputs and a periodic switch in the output as discussed in Section 2.2. The constraints for other channels can be eliminated likewise.



Figure 4.5: The equivalent representation of a 2-periodic system.

In order to deal with the constraints in a general setting, we will formulate the design problem as an \mathcal{H}_2 optimization problem: We attempt to minimize the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system T formed by subtracting the output of a pure delay transfer function from the output of the filter bank. This results in a filter bank that has an impulse response close to the desired impulse response, i.e., a pure delay. This is a nonlinear optimization problem. When either analysis or synthesis filters are fixed, the solution can be obtained by the least squares solution of a linear system of equations. In order to design the filter bank, we use an iterative solution: The initial analysis filters are designed according to the frequency characteristics of the input. At each iteration, the analysis filters are first fixed and the synthesis filters are found so that the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system is minimized over all synthesis filters of a prespecified order. Then, similarly, the synthesis filters obtained in the previous step are fixed and the analysis filters are found so that the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system is minimized over all analysis filters of a prespecified order. By repeating the above procedure the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm decreases until it reaches its final value. If the frequency characteristics of the filters are not satisfactory, instead of the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system, we may consider an objective function that takes into account the stopband attenuation of the filters and the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system.

In the rest of the chapter, we use the results of Section 3.2, and find the the transfer matrix of a blocked nonuniform filter bank. Then, we will formulate the model-matching design of filter banks, and give some design examples.

4.2 Transfer Matrices of Blocked Multirate Filter Banks

The analysis and synthesis parts of a nonuniform filter bank usually consist of the subsystem shown in Figure 4.6, where G is an LTI filter. It is possible to use more general blocks as discussed in Section 3.3, and [24, 9, 15], but when p and q are coprime this building block is quite general [6], and in this section we will restrict our study to filter banks using this basic building block.

As discussed in Section 3.2, if we block the input sequence into blocks of length q and the output sequence into blocks of length p, we will get a p by q LTI system. We denote the p by q transfer matrix of this blocked system \underline{G} . It is easy to show that each of the



Figure 4.6: A sample-rate changer.

45

polyphase components of the filter G appears only once in \underline{G} if and only if p and q are coprime.

As is shown in Figure 4.1, the *i*-th channel of a nonuniform filter bank consists of a (p_i, q_i) periodic subsystem cascaded with a (q_i, p_i) periodic subsystem. A delay of q_i samples in the input sequence results in a delay of p_i samples in the output of the first subsystem, which in turn results in a delay of q_i samples in the output of the channel. Therefore, the *i*-th channel is periodic with period q_i , and by postmultiplying the transfer matrix of the analysis part $\underline{H_i}$ by the transfer matrix of the synthesis subsystem $\underline{F_i}$, we can obtain the transfer matrix for the q_i blocked representation of the cascaded subsystems. This matrix is q_i by q_i . The output of the filter bank is obtained by adding the outputs of the channels. The filter bank is periodic with period $q = lcm(q_0, q_1, ..., q_{m-1})$ (lcm is the least common multiple). Therefore, if we block q inputs and outputs of the filter bank, an LTI system will result, and the transfer matrix for the blocked system can be obtained using qblocks in the input instead of q_i blocks in the input of each channel. This is equivalent to eliminating all of the columns and rows that are not a multiple of p_i and q_i , respectively, of the qp_i -fold polyphase matrix of analysis filters H_i . The polyphase representation of F_i may be obtained similarly. By postmultiplying \underline{H}_i by \underline{F}_i the q blocked transfer matrix of the channels is obtained. Because the outputs of all channels are added, the blocked transfer matrix of the filter bank \underline{T} can be found by adding the transfer matrix of the channels, i.e.,

$$\underline{T} = \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \underline{F}_i \, \underline{H}_i = \underline{F} \, \underline{H}, \tag{4.2}$$

where

$$\underline{H} = \left[\underline{H}_0^* \quad \underline{H}_1^* \quad \cdots \quad \underline{H}_{m-1}^* \right]^*,$$
46

$$\underline{F} = \left[\underline{F}_0 \quad \underline{F}_1 \quad \cdots \quad \underline{F}_{m-1} \right].$$

Here superscript * represents the conjugate transpose. Depending on the upsampling and downsampling factors in the filter bank, the elements of the matrices \underline{F} and \underline{H} may or may not be interdependent. When all of the q_i are not equal, some of the polyphase components appear at two different entries of \underline{H} and \underline{F} , which means that some of the elements of these matrices are interdependent. The design method should be capable of handling these structural dependencies.

4.3 \mathcal{H}_2 Optimization

The use of \mathcal{H}_2 optimization in the time domain was discussed in [25]. In this section, we discuss the optimization in the frequency domain. As was mentioned before, we take all of the filters to be FIR. We will first show that when the analysis filters are fixed, the synthesis filters that minimize the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system are found by the least squares solution of a linear system of equations. Then we will point out the dual problem of finding the analysis filters when the synthesis filters are fixed. In the last part, we will use the first two cases and discuss an iterative procedure for designing filter banks.

In the \mathcal{H}_2 optimization, the coefficients are found so that the impulse response of the filter bank is close to the delayed version of the input sequence, i.e., we would like to have a filter bank that is close to the LTI system:

$$T_d(z)=z^{-k}$$

Because the filter bank is a periodically time-varying system with period q, the impulse responses of the filter bank for impulses at time 0 through time q - 1 are compared with

the respective desired outputs. Thus, the optimal filter bank minimizes

$$J_{e} = \left[\sum_{l=0}^{q-1} ||y_{l} - T_{d}u_{l}||_{2}^{2}\right]^{1/2} = \left[\sum_{l=0}^{q-1} ||y_{l} - z^{-(\bar{k}+l)}||_{2}^{2}\right]^{1/2}$$

where $u_l(z) = z^{-l}$ and y_l are the inputs and the outputs, respectively. J_e is equal to the \mathcal{H}_2 norm of the error system $\underline{R} = \underline{F} \underline{H} - \underline{T}_d$, where, as discussed in the previous section, \underline{F} is the blocked transfer matrix of the synthesis filter bank, \underline{H} is the blocked transfer matrix of the synthesis filter bank, \underline{H} is the blocked transfer matrix of the analysis filter bank, and \underline{T}_d is obtained by blocking $T_d(z) = z^{-k}$: Writing $\bar{k} = \bar{l}q + r$ with $0 \leq r < q$, we have

$$\underline{T_d}(z) = z^{-\overline{l}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & z^{-1} I_r \\ I_{q-r} & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

where I_r is the $r \times r$ identity matrix.

In the frequency domain the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system is given by:

$$||\underline{R}||_{2} = \left\{\frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{2\pi}\operatorname{trace}\left[\underline{R}(e^{j\omega})^{*}\underline{R}(e^{j\omega})\right]d\omega\right\}^{1/2},$$

where the trace of a square matrix is the sum of the diagonal elements. By expanding the trace, we can relate the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system to the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the elements of its blocked transfer matrix <u>R</u> as:

$$J_{e} = ||\underline{R}||_{2} = \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{q-1} \sum_{l=0}^{q-1} ||\underline{R}^{(k,l)}||_{2}^{2} \right\}^{1/2}.$$
(4.3)

We assume that the filter bank is FIR, thus the elements of \underline{R} are also FIR and can be expressed as

$$\underline{R}^{(k,l)} = \sum_{n=0}^{n_{k,l}} R_{k,l,n} z^{-n}$$

where $n_{k,l}$ is the highest degree of the polynomial of the (k, l) component of <u>R</u>. The \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the elements of <u>R</u> is related to the coefficients of the polynomial as:

$$||\underline{R}^{(k,l)}||_2^2 = \sum_{n=0}^{n_{k,l}} R_{k,l,n}^2.$$

Substituting in (4.3), we have

$$J_{e} = ||R||_{2} = \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{q-1} \sum_{l=0}^{q-1} \sum_{n=0}^{n_{k,l}} R_{k,l,n}^{2} \right\}^{1/2}.$$
(4.4)

As can be seen in (4.4), $R_{k,l,n}$ is the coefficient of z^{-n} in the (k, l) element of the blocked transfer matrix of the error system <u>R</u>. These coefficients are the coefficients of polynomials which result by deducting the (k, l) element of <u>T</u>_d from the multiplication of the k-th row of <u>F</u> by the l-th column of <u>H</u>. Since the coefficients of the analysis filters are multiplied by the coefficients of the synthesis filters in (4.4), minimization of this expression is a nonlinear optimization problem. In order to solve this problem, we use an iterative approach. We start with a set of frequency-selective analysis filters $H_i^{(0)}$ having prespecified orders \bar{n}_i , and find the \mathcal{H}_2 optimal synthesis filters $F_i^{(1)}$ over all FIR filters F_i having orders n_i . Since the coefficients of the analysis filter bank are fixed, the expression in (4.4) becomes a quadratic expression and can be found as the least squares solution of a set of linear equations that yield $R_{k,l,n}$ for $0 \le k < q$, $0 \le l < q$, $0 \le n < n_{k,l}$.

Assume that the filters F_i have the following representation

$$F_i(e^{-j\omega}) = \sum_{l=0}^{n_i} f_{il} e^{-j\omega l}$$

By defining a vector whose elements consist of the coefficients of the filter F_i as,

$$\phi_i = [f_{i0} \ f_{i1} \ \cdots \ f_{in_i}]^*,$$

and defining ϕ as the vector of coefficients of the synthesis filter bank

$$\phi = [\phi_0^* \phi_1^* \cdots \phi_{m-1}^*]^*,$$

we have

$$J_{\epsilon}^{2} = (A\phi - C)^{*}(A\phi - C).$$

The matrix A and vector C depend on the delay of the filter bank and the coefficients of the analysis filter bank. Thus the least squares solution of the systems of equations

$$A\phi = C$$

will result in the coefficients of the synthesis filters that minimize the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system for the given set of the analysis filters. Since the coefficients of different synthesis filters do not appear in the same equation, the system of linear equations can be decomposed into m sets of linear equations:

$$A_i \phi_i = C_i \quad 0 \le i < m$$

where A_i and C_i are submatrices of A and C, respectively. Thus the objective function reduces to

$$J_{e}^{2} = \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} (A_{i}\phi_{i} - C_{i})^{*} (A_{i}\phi_{i} - C_{i}).$$

Note that the structural dependencies can be handled without any difficulty.

The \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system is related to the aliasing distortion and magnitude distortion of the filter bank. Defining the alias distortion AD, magnitude distortion MD, and phase distortion PD, as:

$$AD^{2} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{l=1}^{q} \int_{0}^{2\pi} |S_{l}(e^{j\omega})|^{2} d\omega$$
$$MD^{2} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} (|S_{0}(e^{j\omega})| - 1)^{2} d\omega$$
$$PD^{2} = \max_{\omega} |\mathcal{L}S_{0}(j\omega) + \bar{k}\omega|,$$
(4.5)

where for $l = 1, 2, \dots, q-1$, S_l are the alias components and S_0 is the linear component of the filter bank [34, 8], we can show that:

$$MD^2 + AD^2 < J_e^2/q.$$

Therefore, these distortions are bounded from the above by a factor $1/\sqrt{q}$ of the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system.

The frequency selectivity of filters F_0 through F_{m-1} can be taken into account by adding penalty terms for the stopband ripples of the filters to the objective function. Assume that the filters F_i have the passband $[\omega_{2i}, \omega_{2i+1}]$. We define the following objective function

$$J^2 = J_\epsilon^2 + J_\phi^2,$$

where

$$J_{\phi}^{2} = \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \alpha_{i} \left[\int_{0}^{\omega_{2i}} F_{i}^{*}(e^{j\omega}) F_{i}(e^{j\omega}) d\omega + \int_{\omega_{2i+1}}^{\pi} F_{i}^{*}(e^{j\omega}) F_{i}(e^{j\omega}) d\omega \right].$$
(4.6)

In a maximally decimated filter bank, if we minimize the norm of the error system subject to the constraint on the stop-bands, the minimization of the norm will cause the passbands to be almost flat in there passbands. Thus, we only need to consider a penalty term for the stopband attenuation of the filters.

By taking

$$\Omega = [1 \ e^{-j\omega} \ \cdots \ e^{-n_*j\omega}]^*,$$

we have,

 $F_i(e^{j\omega}) = \Omega^* \phi_i.$

The penalty function can be simplified as follows:

$$J_{\phi}^{2} = \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \alpha_{i} \phi_{i}^{*} [\int_{0}^{\omega_{2i}} \Omega \Omega^{*} d\omega + \int_{\omega_{2i+1}}^{\pi} \Omega \Omega^{*} d\omega] \phi_{i}.$$

The term in the brackets can be substituted by a real positive definite matrix Γ_i with the (k, l) element given by:

$$\Gamma_i(k,l) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{(k-l)} [\sin(\omega_{2i}(k-l)) - \sin(\omega_{2i+1}(k-l))], & \text{if } l \neq k \\ \pi + \omega_{2i} - \omega_{2i+1}. & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Thus, the objective function reduces to:

$$J^2 = \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} [(A_i\phi_i - C_i)^{\bullet}(A_i\phi_i - C_i) + \alpha_i\phi_i^{\bullet}\Gamma_i\phi_i].$$

To get the coefficients of the optimal filters, we set the derivative of J^2 with respect to the vectors ϕ_i equal to zero:

$$\frac{\partial J^2}{\partial \phi_i} = 2[(A_i^*A_i + \alpha_i \Gamma_i)\phi_i - A_i^*C_i] = 0.$$

Thus, if $A_i^*A_i + \alpha_i\Gamma_i$ is invertible, we have

$$\phi_i^{opt} = (A_i^*A_i + \alpha_i\Gamma_i)^{-1}A_i^*C_i.$$

If the synthesis filters that minimize the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system do not result in satisfactory filters, we may proceed by finding the set of analysis filters that obtain the minimum objective function for the synthesis filters that were found in the previous step. The steps are similar and thus are omitted. By repeating this procedure, we may be able to design acceptable nonuniform filter banks. The algorithm for the iterative design of a nonuniform filter bank is summarized as follows (the number in parentheses in superscript refers to the iteration):

- 1. Use a conventional method like the Remez exchange algorithm to design the initial analysis filters $H_0^{(0)}$ through $H_{m-1}^{(0)}$ with desired order and frequency characteristics.
- 2. Find the synthesis filters $F_0^{(n)}$ through $F_{m-1}^{(n)}$ so that the nonuniform filter bank that results by cascading the synthesis filter bank to analysis filters is optimal in the \mathcal{H}_2 sense.
- 3. Find the analysis filters $H_0^{(n)}$ through $H_{m-1}^{(n)}$ so that the filter bank consisting of these filters and the synthesis filters $F_0^{(n)}$ through $F_{m-1}^{(n)}$, obtained in the previous step is optimal in the \mathcal{H}_2 sense.
- 4. Evaluate the objective function $J^{(n)}$. Terminate if $|J^{(n-1)} J^{(n)}| < \epsilon$ for a prespecified positive value of ϵ ; otherwise increment n by 1, and go to Step 2.

The algorithm minimizes an objective function defined by:

$$\bar{J}^2 = J_e^2(\phi, \psi) + J_{\phi}^2 + J_{\psi}^2$$

where ψ is a vector containing the coefficients of the analysis filters H_i , J_{ψ} takes into account the stopband attenuation of analysis filters, and are defined similarly to ϕ , J_{ϕ} in (4.3) and (4.6), respectively. In the algorithm, Step 2 minimizes \overline{J} when ψ is fixed, and Step 3 minimizes \overline{J} when ϕ is fixed. In either case the minimum is found by solving a set of (over determined) linear equations. This optimization problem can also be solved by gradientbased optimization procedures. The gradient methods may or may not yield the global optimum. In every step of the method described here, the minimum has a unique analytic solution, making this method more suitable than gradient-based methods. Because of this, the method converges very fast during the initial iterations; in some cases the initial results might even be satisfactory, without any need for iteration. By this algorithm \overline{J} decreases until it reaches the local minimum. The method may not converge to the global minimum, and it is necessary to start from suitable initial filters; otherwise, even when the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the system is low, the sensitivity of the final filters to the noise might be too high. The initial filters may be obtained by considering the nonuniform perfect-reconstruction filter bank with ideal filters. This point is discussed further in the examples given in the next section.

4.4 Examples

A filter bank that divides the input signal into three consecutive bands as shown in Figure 4.2 is considered. It was shown in [12] that this filter bank can not cancel aliasing. As was discussed in [18], in some cases, if we use the same ideal filters for analysis and synthesis, we are not able to obtain a perfect-reconstruction filter bank. For example, if we assume that H_0 , H_1 and H_2 have the passbands $[\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{5\pi}{6}], [\frac{5\pi}{6}, \pi]$ and $[0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$ respectively, then the signals in the output of the analysis filter bank are aliased in such a way that it is not possible to recover them by ideal filters. In those cases, it may be possible to use the method presented here and obtain a reasonably low norm for the error system, but the frequency responses of the synthesis filters will not resemble those of ideal filters, and some of the filters may have high sensitivity to noise.

Now, assume that H_0 , H_1 , and H_2 split the input signal into the following bands: $[0, \frac{\pi}{3}], [\frac{\pi}{3}, \frac{\pi}{2}]$, and $[\frac{\pi}{2}, \pi]$. Following the procedure mentioned in the previous sections, the transfer matrix of the blocked system is $\underline{T} = \underline{F} \underline{H}$ with

$$\underline{H} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{H}_{00} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{05} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{04} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{03} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{02} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{01} \\ \hat{H}_{03} & \hat{H}_{02} & \hat{H}_{01} & \hat{H}_{00} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{05} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{04} \\ \hat{H}_{10} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{15} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{14} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{13} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{12} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{11} \\ \hat{H}_{20} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{25} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{24} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{23} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{22} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{21} \\ \hat{H}_{22} & \hat{H}_{21} & \hat{H}_{20} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{25} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{24} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{23} \\ \hat{H}_{24} & \hat{H}_{23} & \hat{H}_{22} & \hat{H}_{21} & \hat{H}_{20} & z^{-1}\hat{H}_{25} \\ \hat{F}_{01} & z^{-1}\hat{F}_{03} & \hat{F}_{10} & \hat{F}_{20} & z^{-1}\hat{F}_{24} & z^{-1}\hat{F}_{22} \\ \hat{F}_{01} & z^{-1}\hat{F}_{04} & \hat{F}_{11} & \hat{F}_{21} & z^{-1}\hat{F}_{25} & z^{-1}\hat{F}_{23} \\ \hat{F}_{02} & z^{-1}\hat{F}_{05} & \hat{F}_{12} & \hat{F}_{22} & \hat{F}_{20} & z^{-1}\hat{F}_{24} \\ \hat{F}_{03} & \hat{F}_{00} & \hat{F}_{13} & \hat{F}_{23} & \hat{F}_{21} & z^{-1}\hat{F}_{25} \\ \hat{F}_{04} & \hat{F}_{01} & \hat{F}_{14} & \hat{F}_{24} & \hat{F}_{22} & \hat{F}_{20} \\ \hat{F}_{05} & \hat{F}_{02} & \hat{F}_{15} & \hat{F}_{25} & \hat{F}_{23} & \hat{F}_{21} \end{bmatrix},$$

where \hat{H}_{ij} and \hat{F}_{ij} are the *j*-th components in the 6-fold polyphase decompositions of H_i

and F_i , respectively. Note that the elements of \underline{F} are interrelated and thus the optimization technique that was discussed in [6] through [9] for the minimization of the \mathcal{H}_{∞} -norm of the error system is not applicable. The initial analysis filters are designed using the MATLAB function *fir1*. The length of the filters H_0 , H_1 and H_2 are 15, 17, and 15, respectively. These analysis filters and the synthesis filters of length 30 are to be designed so that the filter bank approximates a delay of 19 samples. We take $\alpha_i = 0$, thus we do not consider any penalty term for the frequency characteristics of the filters. If we do not iterate and simply obtain the synthesis filters that result in the minimum norm of the error system with the initial analysis filters, the minimum attainable \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system will be 0.0842. By iterating, the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm decreases to 0.035 after 200 iterations. Thus, the average of the norm of the error of the impulse response of the filter bank is $0.035/\sqrt{6} = 0.0143$. The \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system versus the iterations is shown in Figure 4.7.



Figure 4.7: The \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system versus the number of iterations for a 3-channel filter bank with LTI blocks.

The final analysis filters are shown in Figure 4.8. The final synthesis filters are shown in Figure 4.9. It is interesting to note that, although no penalty for the frequency selectivity of filters is imposed, the final filters are frequency selective.



Figure 4.8: Analysis filters H_0 (dash), H_1 (dot), and H_2 (solid): amplitude versus normalized frequency.



Figure 4.9: Synthesis filters F_0 (dash), F_1 (dot), F_2 (solid): amplitude versus normalized frequency.

A random input signal with a uniform distribution in [-1, 1] was applied to the input of this filter bank. The error, which is the difference between the output signal and the delayed version of the input signal, is shown in Figure 4.10. By using synthesis filters that have higher orders and increasing the delay of the filter bank accordingly, it is possible to decrease the \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of the error system.

If we allow the synthesis F_0 and F_2 to be 2-periodic and 3-periodic, respectively, while keeping analysis filters H_0 through H_2 as LTI blocks, for systems with the same order as in the previous part, we are able to achieve an \mathcal{H}_2 -norm of 0.0013 for the error system,



Figure 4.10: The error signal (versus time) of the filter bank with LTI blocks for a random input with a uniform distribution in [-1, 1].

which is a significant improvement. The final analysis filters are shown in Figure 4.11. It is interesting to note that the analysis filters are frequency selective as before. The coefficients of the initial and final analysis filters are given in Table 4.1. There is not a significant change in the coefficients of the filters after iterating, which means that the method converges to the local minimum. Therefore, although the subband signals are similar to those in the previous part, the error in the output is significantly smaller.

The frequency characteristics of the LTI blocks in the switched representation of synthesis blocks, as per Figure 4.5, appear in Figures 4.12- 4.13. These filters have frequency characteristics similar to those of filters F_0 through F_2 in the filter bank with the LTI synthesis filters. The total of floating point operation count is 2.853×10^9 . Thus, the floating point count per iteration is 14.2×10^6 .

Similarly, a random input signal with a uniform distribution in [-1, 1] was applied to the input of this filter bank. The error of the output of the filter bank is shown in Figure 4.14. Various distortions of the filter banks in the above examples are calculated as per (4.5). The results are summarized in Table 4.2.



Figure 4.11: Analysis filters, for the filter bank with general synthesis blocks H_0 (dash), H_1 (dot), and H_2 (solid): amplitude versus normalized frequency.



Figure 4.12: Synthesis filters for the filter bank with the general blocks, ϕ_{00} (solid), ϕ_{01} (dash), F_1 ('-.'): amplitude versus normalized frequency.

4.5 Summary

In this chapter, we have proposed the \mathcal{H}_2 optimal design of nonuniform filter banks. Our method handles the structural dependency in the design procedure and yields a solution that has an impulse response close to a pure delay. At each iteration, the least squares solution of a system of linear equations is found, allowing the final analysis and synthesis filters to be obtained easily. In the next chapter, we shall study the model-matching design of nonuniform filter banks by using the \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of systems.

n	$h_{0n}^{(0)}$	$h_{1n}^{(0)}$	$h_{2n}^{(0)}$		n	$h_{0n}^{(200)}$	$h_{1n}^{(200)}$	$h_{2n}^{(200)}$
0	0.0031	-0.0043	0.0037		0	0.0054	0.0060	-0.0047
$\boxed{1}$	0.0000	-0.0151	0.0000		1	0.0012	-0.0070	-0.0075
2	-0.0139	0.0000	-0.0162		2	-0.0152	-0.0057	-0.0119
3	-0.0300	0.0671	0.0000		3	-0.0312	0.0623	0.0032
4	0.0000	0.0578	0.0684		4	0.0004	0.0613	0.0668
5	0.1133	-0.1179	0.0000		5	0.1141	-0.1155	-0.0011
6	0.2617	-0.1851	-0.3049		6	0.2620	-0.1871	-0.3046
7	0.3315	0.0639	0.5019		7	0.3315	0.0622	0.5020
8	0.2617	0.2587	-0.3049	1	8	0.2608	0.2594	-0.3052
9	0.1133	0.0639	0.0000	1	9	0.1105	0.0662	-0.0001
10	0.0000	-0.1851	0.0684		10	-0.0020	-0.1838	0.0689
11	-0.0300	-0.1179	0.0000	1	11	-0.0270	-0.1203	0.0009
12	-0.0139	0.0578	-0.0162		12	-0.0009	0.0493	-0.0158
13	0.0000	0.0671	0.0000	1	13	0.0088	0.0614	-0.0019
14	0.0031	0.0000	0.0037	1	14	-0.0069	0.0041	0.0010
15		-0.0151		1	15		0.0051	
16		-0.0043		1	16		0.0119	
·	u	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·				•	<u></u>
		(a)					(Ь)	

Table 4.1: Coefficients of (a) Initial analysis filters, (b) final analysis filters

	Synthesis filters	Periodic synthesis blocks
\mathcal{H}_{2} -norm	0.035	0.0013
AD	0.0132	0.00046
MD	0.0042	0.00018
PD (deg.)	0.4033	0.0285

Table 4.2: The \mathcal{H}_2 -norm and various distortions of filter banks in examples



Figure 4.13: Synthesis filters for the filter bank with the general blocks, ϕ_{20} (solid), ϕ_{21} (dash), ϕ_{22} ('-.'): amplitude versus normalized frequency.



Figure 4.14: The error signal (versus time) of the filter bank with general blocks for a random input with a uniform distribution in [-1, 1].

Chapter 5

\mathcal{H}_{∞} Design of Nonuniform Filter Banks

In the previous chapter we formulated the \mathcal{H}_2 model-matching design of nonuniform filter banks in the frequency domain. In this chapter, we give another formulation. This formulation attempts to minimize the \mathcal{H}_{∞} model-matching problem in the time domain.

5.1 Introduction

As we mentioned in the previous chapter, it is usually possible to relate a nonuniform filter bank to a uniform filter bank with possibly interrelated filters. Thus, the design of a nonuniform filter bank can be converted to the design of a uniform filter bank subject to some structural constraints. The design process should be capable of handling these constraints. For example, methods presented in [6, 18] are suitable for the cases where no structural constraints are present. In [7], it was shown that filter banks may be designed by model-matching, i.e., by minimizing the \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of an error system, formed by subtracting the output of a pure delay transfer function from the output of the filter bank. By such a design method the analysis filters are designed in advance and IIR synthesis filters are found so that the \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of the error system is minimized, then the IIR filters are approximated by FIR filters. The filters are found by solving two Riccati equations. Because of the approximation, the final filters are suboptimal. Moreover, this method can not accommodate the structural constraints.

In this chapter, we follow an iterative approach. At each iteration, we use semidefinite programming and obtain the FIR synthesis filters for a given set of FIR analysis filters or vise versa. The problem is a convex optimization problem, and since no approximation is involved, at each iteration the solution is optimal, i.e., the FIR synthesis (analysis) filters are optimal for the given analysis (synthesis) filters. Here, we consider the \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm as the optimality criterion. Thus the designed filter bank is closest to the desired ideal system in the worst case scenario. As we will see, the constraints will not pose any difficulty in the design process.

The semidefinite programming (SDP) problem is the optimization problem of a linear function subject to the constraint that a matrix be positive definite. In other words, the following problem is a semidefinite programming problem:

minimize
$$c^T \alpha$$
,
subject to $G(\alpha) > 0$,

where

$$G(\alpha) = G_0 + \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i G_i,$$

and the matrices $G_0, \dots, G_m \in \mathbf{R}^{n \times n}$ are symmetric. Here, for real symmetric matrices Aand B, A > B whenever A-B is positive definite. The inequality $G(\alpha) > 0$ is called a linear matrix inequality (LMI). The SDP problems are convex optimization problems and can be solved using interior point methods. Thus SDP problems are polynomial time solvable if an *a priori* bound on their solution is known [2, 5]. The chapter is organized as follows: In Section 5.2, we discuss the model-matching formulation for filter banks. In Section 5.3, this problem is then converted to an SDP problem. In Section 5.4, we give an example for the design of a three channel nonuniform filter bank. The example involves periodic blocks in the synthesis filter bank and frequency selective filters as the analysis filters. Finally, Section 5.5 provides some concluding remarks.

5.2 Formulation

A nonuniform filter bank as shown in Figure 5.1 is considered. In this section, we will discuss how a model-matching problem for the design of multirate filter banks can be obtained.



Figure 5.1: A general nonuniform filter bank.

As we discussed in the previous chapter, this nonuniform filter bank is a periodic system with period $q = \text{lcm}(q_0, q_1, \dots, q_{m-1})$, where q_i are the downsampling factors. By blocking the input and output signals, a multi-input multi-output q by q LTI system results. The transfer matrix of the blocked filter bank $\underline{T}(z)$ is the tandem connection of the transfer matrix of the blocked analysis filter bank $\underline{H}(z)$ and that of synthesis filter bank, $\underline{F}(z)$, i.e.,

$$\underline{T}(z) = \underline{F}(z)\underline{H}(z).$$

We are interested in a system which has a transfer function close to a pure delay. Since blocking is norm-preserving, we can compare the blocked transfer function of a filter bank with that of a pure delay.

The q blocked transfer matrix, $\underline{T}_d(z)$, of the pure delay by $\bar{k} = \bar{l}q + r$ with $0 \le r < q$, is:

$$\underline{T_d}(z) = z^{-l} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & z^{-1} I_r \\ I_{q-r} & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Assume \underline{F} , \underline{H} and $\underline{T_d}$ have the state-space realizations:

$$\underline{F} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{A_f} & \underline{B_f} \\ \hline C_f & D_f \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\underline{H} = \begin{bmatrix} A_h & B_h \\ \hline C_h & D_h \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\underline{T_d} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{A_d} & B_d \\ \hline C_d & D_d \end{bmatrix}$$

We use the controllable canonical form and thus the coefficient of filters appear in the matrices C and D above and the structures of the matrices A and B in the realizations of transfer matrices are similar. It is straightforward to show, $\underline{T}(z) = \underline{F}(z) \underline{H}(z)$ has the following realization:

$$\underline{T}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} A_h & 0 & B_h \\ B_f C_h & A_f & B_f D_h \\ \hline D_f C_h & C_f & D_f D_h \end{bmatrix}.$$

Since we assume that the filter bank is FIR, all of the A matrices in the realization of \underline{F} , \underline{H} , \underline{T}_d , and $\underline{T}(z)$ have all of their eigenvalues equal to zero.

The \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of the error system is by definition the ℓ_2 induced norm of $\underline{R} = \underline{F} \underline{H} - \underline{T}_d$. The realization of \underline{R} can be obtained with little effort. In order to reduce the realization, note that the (1,2) block of the realization A matrix of T is 0. When the order of \underline{T}_d is less than or equal to that of \underline{H} , we have

$$\underline{R}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} A_h & 0 & B_h \\ B_f C_h & A_f & B_f D_h \\ \hline D_f C_h - [C_d \ 0] & C_f & D_f D_h - D_d \end{bmatrix}.$$

A similar relationship can be written for the case that the order of $\underline{T_d}$ is higher than that of <u>H</u>, but such a realization may not be minimal (this will not pose any problems).

The coefficients of the analysis filters appear in C_h and D_h and those of synthesis filters appear in C_f and D_f . In uniform filter banks there are no structural constraints on the elements of C_f and D_f , but in nonuniform filter banks some of the coefficients of filters may appear in more than one entry of these matrices. Thus the model-matching problem should be solved subject to these structural constraints.

When the delay and the analysis filters are given and the synthesis filters that minimize the \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of the error system are to be found, $\underline{T_d}(z)$ and $\underline{H}(z)$ are known and the coefficients of the synthesis filters appear only in $\underline{F}(z)$. Therefore, C_f and D_f are variable and the rest of the matrices are fixed. Note that in this case, A and B matrices of the realization of \underline{R} are fixed and only C and D matrices are variable. Furthermore the coefficients of the synthesis filters appear directly in the above matrices. For this case, the design of a multirate filter bank can be cast as the following optimization problem:

Find matrices C_f and D_f (or equivalently the coefficients of filters F_0 through F_{m-1}) so as to minimize $||\underline{R}(z)||_{\infty}$.

Since C_f and D_f appear directly in <u>R</u>, as discussed in the next section, using the bounded real lemma, this problem can be converted into semidefinite programming. Once the problem is converted, it can be solved by interior point methods. The dual problem of finding the FIR analysis filters that result in the minimum \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of the error system can be solved by minimizing the norm of the transpose of the error system $\underline{R}^{T}(z) = \underline{H}^{T}(z) \underline{F}^{T}(z) - \underline{T}_{d}^{T}(z)$. This can be done since the \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of $\underline{R}^{T}(z)$ is equal to that of \underline{R} and the variable coefficients appear in C and D matrices of the realization of \underline{H}^{T} .

Using the above mentioned cases, we are able to design a filter bank iteratively. The algorithm for the iterative design of a nonuniform filter bank is summarized as follows (the number in the parenthesis in superscript refers to the iteration):

- 1. Use a conventional method like Remez exchange algorithm to design the initial analysis filters $H_0^{(0)}$ through $H_{m-1}^{(0)}$ with desired order and frequency characteristics.
- 2. Find the synthesis filters $F_0^{(n)}$ through $F_{m-1}^{(n)}$ so that the nonuniform filter bank that results by cascading the synthesis filter bank to analysis filters $H_0^{(n-1)}$ through $H_{m-1}^{(n-1)}$ is optimal in the \mathcal{H}_{∞} sense.
- 3. Find the analysis filters $H_0^{(n)}$ through $H_{m-1}^{(n)}$ so that the filter bank consisting of these filters and the synthesis filters $F_0^{(n)}$ through $F_{m-1}^{(n)}$, obtained in the previous step, is optimal in the \mathcal{H}_{∞} sense.
- 4. Evaluate the objective function $||\underline{R}^{(n)}||_{\infty}$. Terminate if $||\underline{R}^{(n-1)}||_{\infty} ||\underline{R}^{(n)}||_{\infty} < \epsilon$ for a prespecified positive value of ϵ ; otherwise increment n by 1, and go to step 2.

Note that the order of the filters are fixed throughout the design procedure.

5.3 Conversion to LMI

In order to perform the minimization, we apply the bounded real lemma [5]. A discrete time system

$$\underline{R}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} A & B \\ \hline C & D \end{bmatrix},$$
(5.1)

has an ℓ_2 induced norm less than or equal to γ if and only if there exists a positive definite symmetric matrix P so that the following LMI is satisfied:

$$\begin{bmatrix} A^T P A - P + C^T C & C^T D + A^T P B \\ D^T C + B^T P A & D^T D - \gamma^2 I + B^T P B \end{bmatrix} \le 0.$$
(5.2)

Since the products C^TC , D^TD , C^TD and D^TC appear in the above relationship, it is not a standard LMI. However, using Schur complement, it can be transformed to a standard form: Since

$$\begin{bmatrix} A^T P A - P + C^T C & C^T D + A^T P B \\ D^T C + B^T P A & D^T D - \gamma^2 I + B^T P B \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A^T P A - P & A^T P B \\ B^T P A & B^T P B - \gamma^2 I \end{bmatrix} - \begin{bmatrix} C^T \\ D^T \end{bmatrix} (-I^{-1}) \begin{bmatrix} C & D \end{bmatrix}$$

using Schur complements [2], (5.2) is satisfied if and only if

$$\begin{bmatrix} A^T P A - P & A^T P B & C^T \\ B^T P A & B^T P B - \gamma^2 I & D^T \\ C & D & -I \end{bmatrix} \leq 0.$$

We are interested in finding FIR filters F_0 through F_{m-1} so that the ℓ_2 induced norm of <u>R</u> is minimized. This is equivalent to the following optimization problem: Assuming a state-space model for <u>R</u>(z) as given in (5.1)

minimize
$$\gamma$$

subject to $\begin{bmatrix} A^T P A - P & A^T P B & C^T \\ B^T P A & B^T P B - \gamma^2 I & D^T \\ C & D & -I \end{bmatrix} \leq 0,$
 $P > 0.$

67

In steps 2 and 3 of the algorithm, the coefficients of the filters that are to be designed appear directly in the C and D matrices. Thus, by finding the solution of the above problem subject to some constraints on the elements of C and D, the coefficients of the filters can be obtained. This is a standard LMI problem and can be solved readily.

5.4 Example

A nonuniform filter bank that divides the input signal into three consecutive bands as shown in Figure 5.1 is considered, with $p_0 = p_1 = p_2 = 1$ and $q_0 = 3$, $q_1 = 6$ and $q_2 = 2$. It was shown in [12] that in this case, alias cancellation is not achievable if non-ideal filters are used.

Assume that H_0 , H_1 and H_2 split the input signal into the following bands $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & \frac{\pi}{3} \end{bmatrix}$, $\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\pi}{3} & \frac{\pi}{2} \end{bmatrix}$ and $\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\pi}{2} & \pi \end{bmatrix}$. The initial analysis filters are designed using the MATLAB function *fir1*. The lengths of the filters H_0 , H_1 and H_2 are 15, 17 and 15, respectively. The synthesis filters of length 24 and analysis blocks of lengths given above are to be designed so that the filter bank approximates a delay of 18 samples.

We allow the synthesis F_0 and F_2 to be 2-periodic and 3-periodic, respectively, while keeping synthesis filter F_1 and the analysis filters H_0 through H_2 as LTI blocks (filters). By this choice, in step 3 of the algorithm, the coefficients of the the matrices C_h and D_h are interrelated, and in step 2, the coefficients of synthesis filters are independent [6].

The \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of the error system reduces to 0.0383 after 5 iterations. The final analysis filters are shown in Figure 5.2. The frequency characteristics of the LTI blocks in the switched representation of synthesis blocks, as was shown in Figure 4.5, appear in Figures 5.3- 5.4. Th filters in the LSTV representation of the synthesis filters have parameters



Figure 5.2: Analysis filters H_0 (dash), H_1 (dot), and H_2 (solid): amplitude versus normalized frequency.



Figure 5.3: Synthesis filters for the filter bank with the general blocks, ϕ_{00} (solid), ϕ_{01} (dash), F_1 ('-.'): amplitude versus normalized frequency.

that are close to each other, which makes their frequency characteristics similar.

A random input signal with a uniform distribution in [-1, 1] is applied to the input of this filter bank. The error which is the difference between the output signal and the delayed version of the input signal is shown in Figure 5.5. This shows that the results are satisfactory.



Figure 5.4: Synthesis filters for the filter bank with the general blocks, ϕ_{20} (solid), ϕ_{21} (dash), ϕ_{22} ('-.'): amplitude versus normalized frequency.



Figure 5.5: The error signal of the filter bank for a random input with a uniform distribution in [-1, 1].

5.5 Concluding Remarks

By the design procedure given here, the \mathcal{H}_{∞} -norm of the error system decreases until it reaches some local minimum. The design procedure does not guarantee convergence to the global minimum. But if we start from suitable analysis filters, after a couple of iterations the filter coefficients will converge. Furthermore, as no constraints on frequency selectivity of filters are imposed, after some iterations, the frequency characteristics of the filters may become undesirable. In this case, it might be desirable to impose constraints on the stopband of the filters. This can be done by adding some LMIs as discussed in [21]. The \mathcal{H}_{∞} modelmatching formulation presented in this chapter is computationally more intensive than the \mathcal{H}_2 model-matching problem given in the previous chapter. Furthermore, the results seem to give filters that are slightly less frequency selective that those obtained by the \mathcal{H}_2 model-matching design. In the next chapter, we study a nonuniform transmultiplexer that is obtained by interchanging the positions of the analysis and the synthesis parts of a nonuniform filter bank.

Chapter 6

Nonuniform Transmultiplexers: Analysis and Design

In the previous chapters, we studied the design of nonuniform filter banks. In this chapter we discuss a multirate system which is the dual of a nonuniform filter bank, i.e., a nonuniform transmultiplexer.

6.1 Introduction

A general nonuniform m channel transmultiplexer is shown in Figure 6.1. It has two parts, the synthesis part and the analysis part. The synthesis part transforms signals that have different sampling rates from the time-division multiplexing format to the frequency-division multiplexing format. The FDM signal is then transmitted. At the receiving end, the analysis part of the transmultiplexer reconstructs the original signals.

In the design of nonuniform transmultiplexers, it is desired that the outputs of channels be delayed versions of the inputs of the channels, i.e.,

 $y_i(n) = x_i(n-d_i)$ for i = 0, ..., m-1,

where d_i is the delay of the *i*-th channel. In an ideal maximally decimated transmultiplexer,



Figure 6.1: A general nonuniform transmultiplexer.

the spectrum of the input signal x_i appears on the frequency bands

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0, \frac{q_0}{p_0}\pi \end{bmatrix}, \quad \text{for } i = 0,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \sum_{k=0}^{i-1} \frac{q_k}{p_k}\pi, \sum_{k=0}^{i} \frac{q_k}{p_k}\pi \end{bmatrix} \quad \text{for } i = 1, \cdots, m-1,$$
(6.1)

of the transmitted signal u. The higher bound for the component due to the last channel should be equal to π , i.e.,

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{q_k}{p_k} = 1$$

As we mentioned in previous chapters, it may not be possible to allocate frequency bands arbitrarily. Rather the *i*-th frequency band has to be located at $[\frac{s_1}{p_1}, \frac{s_i+1}{p_i}]$ for some $s_i \in \{0, \dots, p_i\}$ [18].

In a nonuniform transmultiplexer, the synthesis part of the transmultiplexer consists of rate-changer subsystems described by the upsampler by p_i , the linear filter H_i with an impulse response $h_i(n)$, and the downsampler by q_i . The *i*-th subsystem of the synthesis part maps the spectrum of the inputs of channels to the frequency bands given by (6.1). Because all outputs of these subsystems are added to obtain the resulting FDM signal u, the sampling rate of the outputs of all these subsystems are the same. Thus, the input sampling rates ω_i , and the output sampling rate ω of all synthesis channels are related by

$$\omega_i = \frac{q_i}{p_i} \omega_i$$

At the other end, the analysis part of the transmultiplexer receives the signal u, and reconstructs the inputs to the transmultiplexer. In summary, a nonuniform transmultiplexer may be used for the conversion of signals that have different sampling rates, between the TDM and the FDM formats.

As we will discuss later, a nonuniform transmultiplexer can be converted to a uniform transmultiplexer. Similar to nonuniform filter banks [12], some of the filters in the equivalent representation of a nonuniform transmultiplexer may be interrelated. Thus, it can be shown that in some cases, it may not even be possible to eliminate cross talk distortions in nonuniform transmultiplexers. The interdependency between filters in the equivalent representation translates into interdependency between elements of the transfer matrices of the synthesis or analysis parts. If we use linear periodically time-varying systems with appropriate periods instead of linear time-invariant filters, we obtain an equivalent uniform transmultiplexer with no interdependence between filters [27, 9].

The use of LPTV systems may not be acceptable for the filters in the synthesis part, because by using LPTV systems aliasing will be present in the channels, and it will be hard to ensure that the output of the synthesis part are in the FDM format. In this case, a transmultiplexer with LTI filters in the synthesis part, and LPTV subsystems in the analysis part eliminates the design constraints on the analysis part in the equivalent representation, and provides the TDM to FDM conversion.

The theory and design of transmultiplexers have been studied extensively, see [33, 35, 19,

26, 34, 1], and the references therein. Nonuniform transmultiplexers have been proposed recently [10, 20]. Once the design of nonuniform transmultiplexers is converted to the design of the uniform transmultiplexers, if there are no constraints on filters, a method developed for the design of uniform transmultiplexers may be used. One of the methods of designing multirate systems is the model-matching method. Similar to nonuniform filter banks [12, 18, 25], in nonuniform transmultiplexers, it may not be possible to achieve perfectreconstruction. The model-matching method results in a transmultiplexer that behaves almost like a perfect-reconstruction transmultiplexer. In [20], the blocking method was used, and the \mathcal{H}_2 model-matching which minimizes the norm of the impulse response of an error system, was proposed for the design of transmultiplexers. The \mathcal{H}_2 model-matching problem results in the solution of a linear system of equations. Although the design is simple in the \mathcal{H}_2 model-matching, for the worst case scenario the errors may be too high.

The model-matching method was used in [6, 7, 14, 9] for the design of filter banks for the worst case scenario by solving two Riccati equations. The use of two Riccati equations cannot deal with the structural constraints that may appear in the design of nonuniform transmultiplexers. But, by the semidefinite programming approach [5, 29], we can design nonuniform transmultiplexers in the most general case.

In this chapter, we study the alias-component matrices for non-uniform transmultiplexers, and use semidefinite programming for the design of transmultiplexers in the worst case scenario. As we show, the distortions in transmultiplexers can be related to the \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of some error systems. Therefore, a design based on the minimization of the \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of error systems results in transmultiplexers with low distortions.

The chapter is organized as follows: In Section 6.2, it is first shown that a nonuniform

transmultiplexer can be transformed into a uniform transmultiplexer, and then the transfer matrix of nonuniform transmultiplexer is obtained. In Section 6.3, the alias-component matrices of transmultiplexers are studied. In Section 6.4, the model-matching design of transmultiplexers is disussed. Some design examples are given in Section 6.5. Section 6.6 concludes the chapter.

6.2 Transfer Matrices of Nonuniform Transmultiplexers

Take $p = \text{lcm}(p_0, p_1, \dots, p_{m-1})$, and set $n_i = p/p_i$. A delay in the input sequence by $n_i q_i$ samples in the *i*-th input of nonuniform transmultiplexer results in a delay of p samples in u. Such a delay in u, in turn results in a delay of $n_i q_i$ samples in the output sequence of the *i*-th channel. Therefore the transmultiplexer is a general linear periodically time-varying system for which a delay of $n_i q_i$ in the input sequence of channel *i*, results in a delay of the same duration in the output to the channel. Because the inputs to the transmultiplexer should be reconstructed at the outputs of the channels, the channel response should be close in some sense to a pure delay. Therefore, although the nonuniform transmultiplexer is $n_i q_i$ -periodic from the *i*-th input to the *i*-th output, it should behave similar to an LTI system with a pure delay transfer function. Furthermore there should be no cross talk between channels.

As we show in the following, a nonuniform transmultiplexer can be converted to a uniform transmultiplexer with upsampling factor $p = \text{lcm}(p_0, p_1, \dots, p_{m-1})$. Take $n_i = p/p_i$, and for the simplicity of discussion, for the rest of the chapter, we assume that $q_i = 1$. In order to obtain the equivalent representation, we place the n_i -channel perfect-reconstruction filter bank in Figure 6.2 in front of the upsampler by p_i . Moving the upsampler by p_i , and F_i inside the delay ladder and noting that the cascade connection of $\uparrow p_i$ and $\uparrow n_i$ is $\uparrow p$, we



Figure 6.2: An n_i -channel maximally decimated perfect-reconstruction filter bank.

see that the *i*-th channel of the transmultiplexer is replaced by the left side of Figure 6.3. Similarly, by cascading the output of the *i*-th channel of the analysis part to the input of the perfect-reconstruction filter bank shown in Figure 6.2, we obtain the right side of Figure 6.3.

In Figure 6.3, the inputs to the upsamplers by p are the n_i -polyphase representation of x_i . Similarly the outputs of the downsamplers by p yield the n_i polyphase decomposition of the output y_i . Therefore the part between upsampler by p and downsampler by p results in an equivalent p channel uniform transmultiplexer, and the inputs and outputs of this equivalent transmultiplexer are the polyphase components of the inputs and outputs of the nonuniform transmultiplexer.

The n_i filters in the equivalent analysis part and synthesis part of Figure 6.3 are related to the analysis filter H_i and synthesis filter F_i , respectively. Because of this interdependence between filters, it can be shown that in some cases of nonuniform transmultiplexers, similar to nonuniform filter banks [12], it may not even be possible to eliminate cross talk distortions.

If we allow F_i and H_i to be LPTV systems with period p instead of LTI filters, the interdependence between filters in the synthesis and analysis parts of the equivalent representation of the *i*-th channel will be eliminated. Take the periodic system with the representation shown in Figure 6.4, where \tilde{F}_{ik} are LTI systems, and the switch connects to \tilde{F}_{i0} , $\tilde{F}_{i1}, ..., \tilde{F}_{i,n,-1}$ at sampling times 0, $p_i, ..., p_i(n_i - 1)$, and repeats. For the *k*-th subchannel of the equivalent representation of the *i*-th synthesis subsystem of Figure 6.3, the input to F_i is obtained by first upsampling a polyphase component of the input signal, and then delaying it by kp_i samples. As the switch is periodic with period $p = p_i n_i$ and is connected to \tilde{F}_{i0} at sampling time equal to zero, for this subchannel only \tilde{F}_{ik} will have an input not identically equal to zero, and for the *k*-th subchannel, we can replace the block $z^{-kp_i}F_i$ by $z^{-p_i}\tilde{F}_{ik}$. Thus, the use of this switching system can eliminate the interdependency between filters in the synthesis part.

Similarly, let H_i be an LPTV system with period p shown in Figure 6.5, where \tilde{H}_{ik} are LTI systems, and the switch connects to \tilde{H}_{i0} , \tilde{H}_{i1} , ..., \tilde{H}_{i,n_i-1} at sampling times 0, p_i , ..., $p_i(n_i - 1)$, and repeats. We can show that $z^{kp_i}H_i$ in Figure 6.3 will be replaced by $z^{kp_i}\tilde{H}_{ik}$ in the equivalent representation of the *i*-th channel. This will result in the elimination of interdependency between the filters in the equivalent representation of the *i*-th analysis subsystem.

Therefore, by using proper LPTV systems with period p, the design of a nonuniform transmultiplexer converts into the design of a uniform transmultiplexer. In particular, if $\tilde{F}_{i,k}$ and $\tilde{H}_{i,k}$ are frequency selective, and the equivalent transmultiplexer achieves perfect-reconstruction, the nonuniform transmultiplexer will also be perfect-reconstruction, and the

spectrum of the *i*-th signal will be mapped into the frequency band given by (6.1). However, the spectrum of the output of synthesis part will not simply be the concatenation of the spectrum of the inputs of the nonuniform transmultiplexer as is the case for a uniform transmultiplexer. Rather, the spectrum of polyphase components of the input signal will be mapped into different subbands within the frequency band of the *i*-th channel in (6.1). If we want to have the TDM to FDM conversion, we should use LTI synthesis filters F_i . In that case, it may not even be possible to eliminate the cross talk between channels. In order to solve the problem in the case where H_i and/or F_i are LTI, we first discuss the transfer matrix of a transmultiplexer, and then formulate the model-matching problem in the following.



Figure 6.3: The equivalent representation of the general nonuniform transmultiplexer. The representation of the i-th channel is shown.

If we block the input and output signals, a multi-input multi-output p by p LTI system results. By blocking this equivalent representation, we obtain the input-output relationship of the system: Assume that F_i and H_i are LTI. Take the polyphase components of the



Figure 6.4: The representation of F_i .



Figure 6.5: The representation of H_i .

channel inputs x_i , and channel outputs y_i :

$$X_i(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n_i-1} \hat{X}_{ik}(z^{n_i}) z^{-k}, \qquad (6.2)$$

$$Y_i(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n_i-1} \hat{Y}_{ik}(z^{n_i}) z^{-k}.$$
(6.3)

Defining the *p*-polyphase versions

$$\hat{X}_i(z) = [\hat{X}_{i0}(z) \ \hat{X}_{i1}(z) \ \cdots \ \hat{X}_{i,(n_i-1)}(z)]^T.$$

and

$$\hat{Y}_i(z) = [\hat{Y}_{i0}(z) \ \hat{Y}_{i1}(z) \cdots \ \hat{Y}_{i,(n_i-1)}(z)]^T,$$

we see that the equivalent uniform transmultiplexer has inputs and outputs given by \hat{X} and \hat{Y} , where

$$\hat{X} = [\hat{X}_0^T \ \hat{X}_1^T \ \cdots \ \hat{X}_{m-1}^T]^T,$$

and

$$\hat{Y} = [\hat{Y}_0^T \ \hat{Y}_1^T \ \cdots \ \hat{Y}_{m-1}^T]^T$$

The synthesis filters in the equivalent uniform transmultiplexer are

$$G_{k_0} = z^{-k_0 p_0} F_0$$
, for $0 \le k_0 < n_0$,

and

$$G_k = z^{-k_i p_i} F_i, \quad k = k_i + \sum_{l=0}^{i-1} n_l, \quad \text{for } 0 \le k_i < n_i, \text{ and } 0 < i < m.$$

Similarly, the analysis filters in the equivalent uniform transmultiplexer are

$$E_{k_0} = z^{k_0 p_0} H_0, \quad \text{ for } 0 \le k_0 < n_0,$$

and

$$E_k = z^{k_i p_i} H_i, \quad k = k_i + \sum_{l=0}^{i-1} n_l, \quad \text{for } 0 \le k_i < n_i, \text{ and } 0 < i < m.$$

The transfer matrix of the nonuniform transmultiplexer can be found in terms of the polyphase components of the equivalent filters E_i and G_i as follows: Let

$$G_i(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} \hat{G}_{ik}(z^p) z^{-k}.$$

A delay of n_i samples in the input of *i*-th channel of the nonuniform transmultiplexer for $i = 0, \dots, m-1$, corresponds to a unit delay of the inputs to the equivalent uniform transmultiplexer, and results in a delay of *p* samples at the output of the synthesis part. Thus

by decomposing the output of the synthesis part u, in terms of its p-polyphase components as

$$U(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} \hat{U}_k(z^p) z^{-k}$$

and defining the blocked version of u

$$\hat{U}(z) = [\hat{U}_0(z) \ \hat{U}_1(z) \ \cdots \ \hat{U}_{(p-1)}(z)]^T,$$

we see that the polyphase components of u and x are related by

$$\hat{U}(z) = \underline{F}(z)\hat{X}(z), \tag{6.4}$$

where elements of \underline{F} are given by

$$\underline{F}^{(i,l)} = \hat{G}_{l,i} \quad \text{for} \quad 0 \le i < p, \ 0 \le l < p.$$

(Note that we start the numbering from 0, and the superscript shows the index of elements of matrices.) Therefore, all of the polyphase components of filters F_i appear on every row equal or higher than $\sum_{l=0}^{i-1} n_l$ and lower than $\sum_{l=0}^{i} n_l$. In other words, there is a structural constraint on the elements of the rows of these matrices, as they are not totally free to change, and are interrelated.

Similarly, the outputs of the transmultiplexer can be found in terms of the polyphase elements of the synthesis filters $\hat{E}_{i,k}$

$$E_i(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} \hat{E}_{ik}(z^p) z^{-k},$$

as

$$\hat{Y}(z) = \underline{H}(z)\hat{U}(z), \tag{6.5}$$

where the elements of p by p matrix \underline{H} are given by

$$\underline{H}^{(i,0)} = \hat{E}_{i0}, \quad \text{for } 0 \le i < p,$$
$$\underline{H}^{(i,l)} = z^{-1} \hat{E}_{i,p-l} \quad \text{for } 0 \le i < p, \quad 0 < l < p$$

Again we see that the elements of some of the columns of \underline{H} are interdependent. Substituting (6.4) in (6.5), we have

$$\tilde{Y}(z) = \underline{H}(z)\underline{F}(z)\tilde{X}(z).$$
(6.6)

This relationship gives the polyphase components of the output of the nonuniform transmultiplexer in terms of the polyphase components of the input of the transmultiplexer. Based on the presentation, we see that unless all of the upsampling factors p_i are equal, the filters in the equivalent representation will be interrelated, which results in interdependence between the elements of some of the rows of \underline{F} or some of the columns of \underline{H} . If $\underline{H}(z)\underline{F}(z)$ is a proper blocking of pure time-delay transfer functions from inputs to outputs of each channel, the transmultiplexer will be perfect-reconstruction. Because of the structural constraints, in general it may not be possible to have a perfect-reconstruction nonuniform transmultiplexer.

6.3 Alias-Component Matrices

Consider the *m*-channel nonuniform transmultiplexer in Figure 6.1. As we discussed in Section 6.2, we can transform a nonuniform transmultiplexer to a uniform transmultiplexer subject to some possible constraints on the filters. In order to be consistent with the results of the previous section, we assume that $q_i = 1$. The general case can be obtain by slight modifications, i.e., by replacing n_i by n_iq_i in the following. The inputs and outputs of this system are the n_i polyphase components of the inputs and outputs of the nonuniform transmultiplexer. Thus, if we block the input and output signals, a multi-input multi-output p by p LTI system results. By blocking this equivalent representation, we obtain the inputoutput relationship of the system: Defining $\Gamma_i(e^{j\omega}) = \text{diag}(1, e^{-j\omega}, \dots e^{-j\omega(n_i-1)})$, and a 1 by n_i vector of ones as $1_{n_i} = [1 \ 1 \ \dots \ 1]$, equation (6.2) can be written in terms of n_i blocked version of input X_i given by

$$X_i(e^{j\omega}) = \mathbf{1}_{n_i} \Gamma_{n_i}(e^{j\omega}) \hat{X}_i(e^{jn_i\omega}).$$

For $k = 0, \dots, n_i - 1$, we have

$$X_i(e^{j(\omega+2\pi\frac{k}{n_i})}) = \Lambda_{n_i}^{(k)}\Gamma_{n_i}(e^{j\omega})\hat{X}_i(e^{jn_i\omega}),$$

where $\Lambda_{n_i}^k$ is the k-th row of the n_i by n_i DFT matrix Λ_{n_i} with the (l, k) element given as $e^{-j2\pi(l+k)/n_i}$. By defining

$$\bar{X}_i(e^{j\omega}) = [X_i(e^{j\omega}) \ X_i(e^{j(\omega+2\pi\frac{1}{n_i})}) \ \cdots \ X_i(e^{j(\omega+2\pi\frac{n_i-1}{n_i})})]^T,$$

and

$$\bar{X}(e^{j\omega}) = [\bar{X}_0^T(e^{j\omega}) \ \bar{X}_1^T(e^{j\omega}) \ \cdots \ \bar{X}_{m-1}^T(e^{j\omega})]^T$$

we see that the blocked version of input X_i , can be calculated in terms of the input as

$$\bar{X}_i(e^{j\omega}) = \Lambda_{n_i} \Gamma_{n_i}(e^{j\omega}) \hat{X}_i(e^{jn_i\omega}).$$

Defining

$$\Lambda = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \Lambda_0, \Lambda_1, \cdots, \Lambda_{n_{m-1}} \right\},\,$$

and

$$\Gamma(e^{j\omega}) = \operatorname{diag}\left\{\Gamma_0(e^{j\frac{\omega}{n_0}}), \Gamma_1(e^{j\frac{\omega}{n_1}}), \cdots, \Gamma_{m-1}(e^{j\frac{\omega}{n_{m-1}}})\right\},\,$$

we have

$$\bar{X}(e^{j\omega}) = \Lambda \Gamma(e^{j\omega}) \hat{X}(e^{j\omega}).$$
(6.7)

Similarly, let

$$\bar{Y}_i(e^{j\omega}) = [Y_i(e^{j\omega}) Y_i(e^{j(\omega+2\pi\frac{1}{n_i})}) \cdots Y_i(e^{j(\omega+2\pi\frac{n_i-1}{n_i})})]^T$$

and

$$\bar{Y}(e^{j\omega}) = [\bar{Y}_0^T(e^{j\omega}) \ \bar{Y}_1^T(e^{j\omega}) \ \cdots \ \bar{Y}_{m-1}^T(e^{j\omega})]^T.$$

for the output, we can write

$$\tilde{Y}_i(e^{j\omega}) = \Lambda_{n_i} \Gamma_{n_i}(e^{j\omega}) \hat{Y}_i(e^{jn_i\omega}).$$

and we have

$$\bar{Y}(e^{j\omega}) = \Lambda \Gamma(e^{j\omega}) \hat{Y}(e^{j\omega}).$$
(6.8)

Substituting
$$(6.7)$$
 and (6.8) in (6.6) , we obtain the alias-component representation of the transmultiplexer as

$$\tilde{Y} = \Lambda \Gamma \underline{H} \underline{F} \Gamma^{-1} \Lambda^{-1} \bar{X},$$

where the dependence of the matrices on the frequency is suppressed. The matrix

$$\bar{T} = \Lambda \Gamma \underline{H} \underline{F} \Gamma^{-1} \Lambda^{-1}$$

is the alias-component matrix of the nonuniform transmultiplexer.

In a transmultiplexer, cross-talk between channels is not desirable. Furthermore, the output of each channel should be close to a delayed version of the input to that channel. Therefore, if we take

$$\bar{T}_{di} = \operatorname{diag}\left\{e^{j\omega d_i}, e^{j(\omega+\frac{2\pi}{n_i})d_i}, \cdots, e^{j(\omega+\frac{2\pi(n_i-1)}{n_i})d_i}\right\},\,$$

$$\bar{T}_d = \text{diag} \{ \bar{T}_{d0}, \ \bar{T}_{d1}, \ \cdots, \ \bar{T}_{d,m-1} \}$$

then $ar{T}$ should approximate $ar{T}_d$.

The alias-component matrix is p by p. If we partition the matrix according to the dimensions of the inputs and outputs in the equivalent representation, we obtain the following representation

$$\bar{T} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{T}_{00} & \bar{T}_{01} & \cdots & \bar{T}_{0,m-1} \\ \bar{T}_{10} & \bar{T}_{11} & \cdots & \bar{T}_{1,m-1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ \bar{T}_{m-1,0} & \bar{T}_{m-1,1} & \cdots & \bar{T}_{m-1,m-1} \end{bmatrix}$$

The n_i by n_l submatrices T_{il} gives the relationship of the output of the *i*-th channel to the input of the *l*-th channel. When *i* and *l* are different, this represents the leakage or cross talk between channels. We may define, the cross talk distortion of the *i*-th channel CD_i , as the contribution of the inputs of other channels to the *i*-th output. In terms of the elements of the transfer matrix, we can write

$$CD_i^2 = \max_{\omega} \sum_{l=1, l \neq i}^{m-1} \sum_{k=0}^{n_l-1} |\bar{T}_{il}^{(0,k)}(e^{j\omega})|^2,$$

where the indices in the parenthesis represent the elements of the matrices. We can show that:

$$CD_i^2 = \sup \frac{||y_i||_2^2}{\sum_{k=1, k \neq i}^n ||x_k||_2^2}$$
, subject to $x_i = 0$

where the 2-norm of the signal is given by the square root of its energy.

The \bar{T}_{ii} submatrix is n_i by n_i . Its (0,0) element, $\bar{T}_{ii}^{(0,0)}$ represent the transfer function between the input of the *i*-th channel and its output. If the system is LTI from the *i*-th input to the *i*-th output, the matrix \bar{T}_{ii} will be diagonal. In the general case $q_i \neq 1$, the off diagonal elements of \bar{T}_{ii} may not be equal to zero, because even if F_i and H_i are LTI, the

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

and

nonuniform transmultiplexer is q_i periodic from its *i*-th input to its *i*-th output. Thus an aliasing distortion may be present. We can define the aliasing distortion, AD, as

$$AD_i^2 = \max_{\omega} \sum_{k=1}^{n_i-1} |\bar{T}_{ii}^{(0,k)}(e^{j\omega})|^2.$$

Deviation of the diagonal elements of \overline{T}_{ii} from those of the matrices T_{di} represent the amplitude and the phase distortion of the *i*-th channel. The magnitude distortion MD can define as

$$MD_i^2 = ||\bar{T}_{ii}^{(0,0)} - e^{j\omega d_i}||_{\infty}^2.$$

The \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of a row submatrix of any matrix, is less than the \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of the matrix. Taking the *l*-th row of the alias-component matrix of the error system $T - T_d$ yields

$$||\bar{T}^{(l,0)} - \bar{T}^{(l,0)}_d \ \bar{T}^{(l,1)} - \bar{T}^{(l,1)}_d \ \cdots \ \bar{T}^{(l,p-1)} - \bar{T}^{(l,p-1)}_d ||_{\infty} \le ||\bar{T} - \bar{T}_d||_{\infty}.$$

Writing this in terms of the partition of the alias-component matrices gives

$$|\bar{T}_{ii}^{(0,0)}(e^{j\omega}) - \bar{T}_{di}^{(0,0)}(e^{j\omega})|^2 + \sum_{k=1}^{n_i-1} |\bar{T}_{ii}^{(0,k)}(e^{j\omega})|^2 + \sum_{l=0, l\neq i}^{m-1} \sum_{k=0}^{n_l-1} |\bar{T}_{il}^{(0,k)}(e^{j\omega})|^2 \le ||\bar{T} - \bar{T}_d||_{\infty}^2, \quad \forall \omega.$$

Maximizing over ω yields

$$\max(MD_i, AD_i, CD_i) < ||\bar{T} - \bar{T}_d||_{\infty}.$$

Therefore, the distortions are bounded from above by the infinity norm of the error system. In other words, by minimizing the norm of the error system, a transmultiplexer results that has distortion measures less than the infinity norm of the error system. In the next section, we study a method for the design of transmultiplexers based on the minimization of the \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of the error system.

6.4 Model-Matching Formulation

The \mathcal{H}_{∞} model-matching design of nonuniform transmultiplexers is similar to that of the nonuniform filter banks discussed in the previous chapter. In this section, we will only discuss the parts of the model-matching design that are specific to nonuniform transmultiplexers, and refer the reader to the previous chapter for the rest of the details.

As we mentioned in the previous section, the p by p transfer matrix of the blocked nonuniform transmultiplexer, $\underline{T}(z)$, is given by postmultiplying the transfer matrix of the blocked representation of the synthesis part $\underline{F}(z)$, by that of the analysis part, $\underline{H}(z)$, i.e.,

$$\underline{T}(z) = \underline{H}(z)\underline{F}(z).$$

The desired transmultiplexer is a system which has a transfer function close to a pure delay from the input to the output of each channel, and zero leakage between different channels. Since blocking is norm-preserving, we may compare the blocked transfer matrix of the transmultiplexer, with a transfer matrix $\underline{T}_d(z)$, which corresponds to a proper blocking of a zero transfer function from the inputs to the outputs of different channels, and a pure delay d_i , from the input to the output of channels i = 0 to m - 1. If the desired delay for the *i*-th channel is d_i samples, the n_i blocked transfer matrix of the channel, $\underline{T}_{di}(z)$, can be obtained by writing $d_i = \overline{l}_i n_i + r_i$, with $0 \le r_i < n_i$, as

$$\underline{T_{di}}(z) = z^{-\overline{l_i}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & z^{-1} I_{r_i} \\ I_{n_i-r_i} & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The p blocked transfer matrix of the nonuniform transmultiplexer is

$$\underline{T_d}(z) = \operatorname{diag}(\underline{T_{d0}}, \underline{T_{d1}}, \cdots, \underline{T_{d,m-1}}).$$
Assuming state-space for transfer matrices \underline{H} , \underline{F} , and \underline{T}_d , we can formulate the modelmatching design of transmultiplexers as discussed in Section 5.2 and Section 5.3. We will discuss this procedure further in the next example.

6.5 Design Example

Take the 3-channel nonuniform transmultiplexer with upsampling factors $p_0 = 3$, $p_1 = 6$, $p_2 = 2$, and down sampling factors $q_0 = q_1 = q_2 = 1$. For this transmultiplexer, we can show that, it is not possible to cancel cross-talk distortions, thus we proceed with the method discussed in previous sections to minimize the error measure from the inputs of the transmultiplexer to its outputs.



Figure 6.6: A three-channel nonuniform transmultiplexer.

Let the sampling rate of the transmitted signal be ω , the transmultiplexer takes signals with sampling rates $\omega/3$, $\omega/6$ and $\omega/2$ as the inputs to the channels, upsamples the signals and filters the signals so that the output of the channels of synthesis filter bank, occupy the frequency bands : $[0, \frac{\pi}{3}], [\frac{\pi}{3}, \frac{\pi}{2}]$ and $[\frac{\pi}{2}, \pi]$ of the transmitted signal, respectively. At the receiving end, if we use filters with the same frequency characteristics as the synthesis filters and downsample the signals, we may obtain signals with a spectrum close to the original signals. But here, instead of LTI filters in the analysis part, we use periodic blocks with period 2 and 3, for the first and last channel, and an LTI filter for the second channel. By this choice, the structural constraints in the design of analysis bank are eliminated, and thus we can achieve a transmultiplexer that has a low error.

We expect the transmultiplexer to have a delay of 6, 3, and 9 samples from the inputs of the first, second and third channels to the outputs of these channels, respectively. In order to design the transmultiplexer, we chose FIR equiripple filters with orders 15, 15, 17 as the initial synthesis filters. We design periodic analysis blocks with the above mentioned periods and with order 24, and LTI synthesis filters with the same order as the initial filters iteratively, and according to the method discussed in the previous sections. The final synthesis filters are shown in Figure 6.7. The analysis subsystem for each channel consists of LTI systems with a switch at the output as per Figure 6.5. The LTI blocks for the switching realizations of the LPTV systems are shown in Figures 6.8 to 6.10. As can be seen, the LTI blocks in the switching representation are all frequency selective, and have similar frequency characteristics. The coefficients of the filters in the representation of each block are close to each other. Therefore the aliasing caused by the blocks are relatively small, and the LPTV blocks H_0 and H_1 are close to LTI. The \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of the error system is 0.017.

Figure 6.11, shows the error of the first channel of the nonuniform transmultiplexer, when random inputs with uniform distribution in [-1, 1] is applied to the inputs of the transmultiplexer. The error in the output of other channels are comparable in magnitude.



Figure 6.7: Synthesis filters F_0 (dash), F_1 (dot), F_2 (solid): amplitude versus normalized frequency



Figure 6.8: Analysis filters $\tilde{H}_{0,0}$ (solid), $\tilde{H}_{0,1}$ (dash): amplitude versus normalized frequency

6.6 Concluding Remarks

We have studied nonuniform transmultiplexers, and presented a design based on the minimization of the \mathcal{H}_{∞} norm of the error systems. Here, the presentation was based on the assumption that downsamplers are not present, i.e., $q_i = 1$ for $i = 0, 1, \dots, m-1$. For the generalization to the case where for some or all of channels $q_i \neq 1$, we should consider $n_i q_i$ -polyphase decomposition of inputs x_i and outputs y_i . For this case, we can show that



Figure 6.9: Analysis filters $\tilde{H}_{1,0}$: amplitude versus normalized frequency



Figure 6.10: Analysis filters $\tilde{H}_{2,0}$ (solid), $\tilde{H}_{2,1}$ (dash), $\tilde{H}_{2,2}$ (dot): amplitude versus normalized frequency

the delayed versions of q_i -polyphase components of F_i and H_i will appear as the filters in the equivalent *p*-band uniform transmultiplexer. The structural constraints will still be present, and the rest of the work will be fairly similar.

The case where F_i and H_i are LPTV rather than LTI was also discussed. As pointed out, this case will result in equivalent uniform transmultiplexers with no interdependency between the analysis and synthesis filters of the equivalent uniform transmultiplexer. In the last section, we furnished an \mathcal{H}_{∞} design example with LTI synthesis filters F_i , and LPTV



Figure 6.11: Error in the response of the first channel of the transmultiplexer

systems H_i .

Chapter 7 Conclusion and Future Extensions

This chapter summarizes the results reported in this thesis, and proposes some possible future research directions.

7.1 Summary

In this thesis, we have studied periodic and multirate systems. We discussed the response of of a periodic system to periodic and aperiodic inputs, and showed that by using the Fourier series, we can find the response of a periodic system to periodic inputs. For general inputs, we used the Fourier transform, and obtained the alias-component matrix of the system. As we argued, by using the alias-component matrix at $\Omega = 0$, we can find the response of the system to an input with the same period as that of the system. We discussed the LSTV representations of periodic systems. Using these representations, we solved the problem of approximating an LPTV system by another LPTV system that has a given but different period so that the \mathcal{H}_2 norm of the error system is minimized. The LSTV representations were then used for extending these results to multirate systems.

The rest of the thesis deals with the design of nonuniform filter banks and transmultiplexers. The design of FIR nonuniform filter banks and transmultiplexers was posed as a model-matching problem, and an iterative method was proposed. For example in the design of a nonuniform filter bank, the initial analysis filters are designed according to the characteristics of the input. By the design procedure, the FIR synthesis filters are found so that the norm of the error system is minimized over all synthesis filters that have a prespecified order. Then, the synthesis filters obtained in the previous step are fixed and the analysis filters are found similarly. By iteration, the norm of the error system decreases until it converges to its final value. This algorithm only finds the local optimal solutions of the \mathcal{H}_2 and \mathcal{H}_{∞} norms of the error systems. Based on the results it can be argued that the \mathcal{H}_2 norm is computationally less intensive, and yields filters that have better frequency characteristics.

In order to reduce the error in these systems, we used LPTV filters. Based on the results, we see that in the LSTV representation of any of these LPTV systems, the blocks have frequency characteristics that are similar to each other, and since their coefficients are also close to each other, these LPTV systems behave close to LTI systems.

In the next section, we give some possible future research directions.

7.2 Future Extensions

In this thesis, we have presented a general design procedure based on model-matching for nonuniform filter banks and transmultiplexers. One of the crucial issues is the selection of the initial analysis or synthesis filters in a nonuniform filter bank or transmultiplexer, respectively. If the initial filters are not selected properly, the final results will not be satisfactory. Furthermore, we have not directly attempted to take bit allocation into consideration. Instead, this was done indirectly by the choice of the initial filters. A direct improvement in the method would be to optimize the coding gain for a filter bank. For a nonuniform filter bank, we may also generalize the optimization criteria to take into account the statistical characteristics of the signals. This has been done in [17] for perfect-reconstruction filter banks. But, in general, for a given set of decimation factors, as we discussed before, it may not be possible to have perfect-reconstruction filter banks. Thus, the design of nonuniform filter banks should include the effects of the coding gain and the norm of the error system.

In the methods presented here, the final designs are only locally optimal, as at each iteration, the method presented here finds the best set of analysis filters for the given synthesis filters or vice versa. Finding the global solution of the problem should be the next step, but without taking into account the frequency characteristics of the filters, the global optimal solution might not even be acceptable. Therefore, a plausible future direction would be to effectively include the desired frequency characteristics of the filters into the design procedure, and attempt to find the global optimal solution to the nonlinear optimization problem that results.

Another interesting extension to the present work is to study general multirate system. Consider the nonuniform transmultiplexer shown in Figure 6.1. As we discussed in the thesis, the transmultiplexer can be considered as a multi-input multi-output general multirate system, where a delay of d_i , in the input sequence x_i , results in a delay of d_i in the output sequence y_i , respectively. A more general system is an m input n output system where a delay of $q_0, q_1, \ldots, q_{m-1}$ in the input sequence results in a delay of $\tilde{q}_0, \tilde{q}_1, \ldots, \tilde{q}_{n-1}$ in the output sequence. For the single-input single-output case, realization of general multirate blocks were studied in [8]. By blocking these systems, LTI multi-input multi-output systems are obtained. We can also define an aliasing-component matrices for these systems. Therefore, an interesting topic for the future work is the realization and structural characteristics of these general multi-input multi-output multirate systems along with some implementable examples for possible new applications.

Bibliography

- [1] A.N. Akansu, P. Duhamel X. Lin, and M. de Courville, "Orthogonal transmultiplexers in communication: a review," *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 979-995, 1998
- [2] P. Apkarian, G. Becker, P. Gahinet. and Hiro Kajiwara. "LMI Techniques in Control Engineering from Theory to Practice," *Tutorial Workshop Notes, Conference on Decision and Control*, Kobe, Japan, Dec. 1996.
- [3] T.M. Apostol, Introduction to Analytic Number Theory, Springer-Verlag, New York. 1976.
- [4] P.O. Arambel, G. Tadmor, "LTI decomposition and \mathcal{H}_{∞} approximation of periodic systems," *Proc. of American Control Conference*, 1994, pp. 1139-1152.
- [5] S. Boyd, L. El Ghaoui, E. Feron and V. Balakrishnan, Linear Matrix Inequalities in System and Control Theory, Siam Studies in Applied Mathematics, vol. 15, 1994.
- [6] T. Chen, "Nonuniform multirate filter banks: analysis and design with an \mathcal{H}_{∞} performance measure," *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, vol. 35, pp. 572-582, 1997.
- [7] T. Chen and B.A. Francis, "Design of multirate filter banks by \mathcal{H}_{∞} optimization," *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, vol. 43, pp. 2822-2830, 1995.

- [8] T. Chen and L. Qiu, "Linear periodically time-varying discrete-time systems: aliasing and LTI approximations," Systems and Control Letters, vol. 30, pp. 225-235, 1997.
- [9] T. Chen, L. Qiu, and E. Bai, "General multirate building structures with application to nonuniform filter banks," Special Issue on Multirate Systems, Filter Banks, Wavelets, and Applications, IEEE Trans. Circuits and Systems II: Analog and Digital Signal Processing, vol. 45, pp. 948-958, 1998.
- [10] S. Coulombe and E. Dubois, "Nonuniform perfect reconstruction filter banks over lattices with application to transmultiplexers," IEEE Trans. Signal Process., vol. 47, pp. 1010-1023, Apr. 1999.
- [11] R.E. Crochiere and L.R. Rabiner, Multirate Digital Signal Processing, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1983.
- [12] P.-Q. Hoang and P.P. Vaidyanathan, "Non-uniform multirate filter banks: theory and design," Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits and Systems, Portland, OR, 1989, pp. 371-374.
- [13] J. Huang, G. Gu and B.A. Shenoi, "Design of multichannel QMF banks via frequency domain optimizations," IEEE Trans. on Circuits and Systems II: Analog and Digital Signal Processing, vol. 46, pp. 599-607, 1999.
- [14] J. Huang, and G. Gu, "A direct approach to the design of QMF banks via frequency domain optimizations," *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, vol. 46, pp. 2131-2138, 1998.
- [15] M.R.K. Khansari and A. Leon-Garcia, "Subband decomposition of signals with generalized sampling," *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, vol. 41, pp. 3365-3376, 1993.

- [16] P.P. Khargonekar, K. Poolla, and A. Tannenbaum, "Robust control of linear timeinvariant plants using periodic compensation," *IEEE Trans. on Automatic Control*, vol. 30, pp. 1088-1096, 1985.
- [17] A. Kirac and P.P. Vaidyanathan, "Optimal nonuniform orthonormal filter banks for subband coding and signal representation," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Image Proc., Chicago, Oct. 1998.
- [18] J. Kovačević and M. Vetterli, "Perfect reconstruction filter banks with rational sampling factors," IEEE Trans. Signal Processing, vol. 41, pp. 2047-2064, 1993.
- [19] R.D. Koilpillai, T.Q. Nguyen, and P.P. Vaidyanathan, "Some results in the theory of crosstalk-free transmultiplexers," *IEEE Trans. Acoust., Speech. Signal Processing*, vol. 39, pp. 2174-2183, 1991.
- [20] T. Liu and T. Chen, "Design of multi-channel nonuniform transmultiplexers using general building blocks," *IEEE Trans. on Signal Processing*, vol. 49, pp. 91-99, 2001.
- [21] W. -S. Lu, "Semidefinite programming: a versatile tool for the analysis and design of digital filters," Proceedings of 1999 IEEE Canadian Conference on Electrical and Computer Engineering, pp. 745-750, Edmonton, Alberta, May 1999.
- [22] R.A. Meyer and C.S. Burrus, "A unified analysis of multirate and periodically timevarying digital filters," IEEE Trans. on Circuits and Systems, vol. 22, pp. 162-168, 1975.

100

- [23] S. Mirabbasi, B. A. Francis, and T. Chen, "Controlling distortions in maximally decimated filter banks," IEEE Trans. on Circuits and Systems II: Analog and Digital Signal Processing, vol. 44, pp. 597-600, 1997.
- [24] T. Miyawaki and C.W. Barnes, "Multirate recursive digital filters a general approach and block structures," *IEEE Trans. Acoust., Speech, Signal Processing*, vol. 31, pp. 1148-1154, Oct. 1983.
- [25] K. Nayebi, T.P. Barnwell, III, and M.J.T. Smith, "Nonuniform filter banks: a reconstruction and design theory," *IEEE Trans. Acoust., Speech, Signal Processing*, vol. 41, pp. 1114-1127, 1993.
- [26] R.P. Ramachandran and P. Kabal, "Bandwidth ethcient transmultiplexers, part 1: synthesis," *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 70-84, 1992.
- [27] A. Saadat Mehr and T. Chen, "Optimal design of nonuniform multirate filter banks," *Circuits. Systems, and Signal Processing*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 505-521, 1999.
- [28] A. Saadat Mehr and T. Chen, "Properties of linear switching time-varying discretetime systems with applications," Systems and Control Letters, vol. 39, pp. 229-235, 2000.
- [29] A. Saadat Mehr and T. Chen, "Design of nonuniform multirate filter banks by semidefinite programming," IEEE Trans. on Circuits and Systems II: Analog and Digital Signal Processing, vol. 47, no. 11, pp. 1311-1314, 2000.
- [30] A. Saadat Mehr and T. Chen, "On alias-component matrices of discrete-time periodically time-varying systems," accepted in *IEEE Signal Processing Letters*, 2001.

- [31] R.G. Shenoy, D. Burnside, and T.W. Parks, "Linear periodic systems and multirate filter design," *IEEE Trans. on Signal Processing*, 42, pp. 2242-2256, 1994.
- [32] R.G. Shenoy, "Analysis of multirate components and application to multirate filter design," in Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Acoust., Speech, Signal Processing, 1994, vol. 3, pp 121-124.
- [33] H. Scheuermann and H. Gockler, "A comprehensive survey of digital transmultiplexing methods," Proc. IEEE, vol. 69, no. 11, pp. 1419-1450, Nov. 1981.
- [34] P. P. Vaidyanathan, Multirate Systems and Filter Banks, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1993.
- [35] M. Vetterli, "Perfect transmultiplexers," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Acoust. Speech, Signal processing, Apr. 1986, pp. 2567-2570.